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LEE & MAN CHEMICAL COMPANY LIMITED EI{t THERAE
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LEE & MAN CHEMICAL COMPANY LIMITED ¥EX{t THRA A

Chairman’s Statement
TERE
BUSINESS REVIEW

For the year ended 31 December 2013, the Group recorded a revenue
of HK$1,329 million, dropped by 12.6% as compared to last year; and a
net profit of HK$309 million for current year, representing a decrease of
14.7% as compared to last year.

The significant decrease in net profit for the period was mainly
attributable to the slowdown of economic growth in the PRC and the
increment cost on research & development and financing upon the trial
production of Jiangxi plant in Fourth Quarter. Besides, under the impact
on the declining product prices in the “Over-Supply” market, the profit
margin for the year dropped while compared with last year.

Although the products prices remained low in the first half of the year,
the average price rebounded and maintained at stable level during
second half of the year. As compared to the last corresponding period,
the average selling price per ton of our main chemical products, namely
methylene chloride, chloroform and caustic soda, dropped sharply by
approximately 8%, 22% and 22% during the 2013 (2012: decreased
by approximately 44%, 54% and 13%) In addition, the average
purchase costs of raw materials, mainly including industrial crude salt and
methanol, was stable. The management believed that selling prices has
reached the bottom in 2013 and are expected to keep at stable level
in the coming years, upon the introduction of government policies in
stabilising the economy & environmental measures in the PRC.

As affected by the above factors, gross profit margin of the Group for the
year ended 31 December 2013 increased from 34.3% of the last year
to 35.7% and the net profit margin slightly decreased from 23.8% to
23.2%.

PROSPECTS

Under the Group's business strategy in the coming year, the Group will
continuously focus on construction of plant at Ruichang City, Jiangxi
Province for development of the fluorochemical products. As at 31
December 2013, approximately RMB1.3 billion of capital expenditures
was incurred. During 2014, the operation of production lines has
gradually been commenced and expected to make contributions for the
Group's profits.

As always, our management team will leverage on our internal technical
innovation and scientific research and development in a pragmatic and
aggressive approach and continue its persistent efforts to make great
strides in the business development of the Group and deliver fruitful
rewards to the shareholders.
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APPRECIATION

On behalf of the Board, | would like to extend our sincere gratitude to our
shareholders, customers and business partners for their persistent support
throughout the year. In addition, | would also like to take this opportunity
to thank all colleagues and staff for their persistent contribution to the
Group.

On behalf of the Board

Wai Siu Kee
Chairman

Hong Kong, 17 March 2014
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LEE & MAN CHEMICAL COMPANY LIMITED ¥EX{t THRA A

Management Discussion and Analysis

BEERWN D
RESULTS OF OPERATION

Revenue and net profit attributable to equity holders of the Group for
the year ended 31 December 2013 was HK$1,329 million and HK$309
million respectively, representing a significant decrease of 12.6%
and 14.7%, as compared to HK$1,521 million and HK$362 million
respectively for last year. The basic earnings per share was HK37.4 cents
for the year ended 31 December 2013 and HK43.9 cents for last year.

Revenue

The slight decrease in revenue for the year was mainly attributable to
PRC economic growth slowdown and the declining product prices in the
“Over Supply” market. This resulted in a decrease in profit margin.

During the year, there were significant fluctuations in products prices. As
compared to last year, the average selling price per ton, excluding tax, of
our main products, namely methylene chloride, chloroform and caustic
soda, dropped by approximately 8%, 22% and 22% to Rmb2,800,
Rmb2,200 and Rmb710 respectively during the year. In addition, the
average purchase costs of raw materials, mainly including industrial crude
salt and methanol, was generally stable. During the year, the Group
maintained a stable production at full capacity and a delighted quality
control.

As affected by the above factors, gross profit margin of the Group for
the year ended 31 December 2013 slightly raised from 34.3% last year
to 35.7% and the net profit margin decreased from 23.8% last year to
23.2%.

Selling and distribution expenses

Selling and distribution expenses incurred for the year ended 31
December 2013 was HK$60.9 million, representing an increase by 4.5%
as compared to HK$58.3 million for last year. The selling and distribution
expense represented about 4.6% of total revenue for the year, slightly
increased by 0.8 percentage point as compared to 3.8% last year. Such
increase was attributable to extension of sales network to Guangdong
Province for Jiangsu plant and newly setup of sales team for Jiangxi plant.
Along with increased shipments, liquid products packaging costs rose
during the year.
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Administrative expenses

Administrative expenses incurred for the year ended 31 December 2013
was HK$104 million, which decreased by HK$3 million as compared
to HK$107 million last year. The administrative expenses accounted for
about 7.8% of total revenue for the year with a slightly increase of 0.8%
as compared to 7.0% last year. The administrative expenses for the year
kept at stable level.

Finance costs

The interest expenses incurred for the year ended 31 December 2013
was HK$48.4 million, which increased by HK$10.4 million as compared
to HK$38.0 million last year. Interest expenses rose during the period
was mainly due to the increase in bank financing for the construction of a
new production plant in Jiangxi. As at 31 December 2013, the total bank
borrowings was HK$1,672 million (31.12.2012: HK$1,417 million). As
at 31 December 2013, the Group maintained bank balances and cash of
approximately HK$1,062 million (31.12.2012: HK$1,520 million) which
is sufficient to enable the Group to meet its future capital expenditure
and working capital requirements.

INVENTORIES, DEBTORS’ AND CREDITORS’ TURNOVER

The inventory turnover of the Group maintained at a stable level of 41
days for the year ended 31 December 2013 as compared to 31 days for
last year.

Due to the stringent credit control, the average collection period was
controlled within a favourable level of 25 days for the year ended 31
December 2013 as compared to 38 days for last year which is in line
with the normal credit terms of 7 days to 60 days granted by the Group
to its customers.

The Group's creditors' turnover days were 25 days for the year ended
31 December 2013 as compared to 18 days for the last year which is
in line with the normal credit terms of 7 days to 45 days granted by the
suppliers to the group.
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LEE & MAN CHEMICAL COMPANY LIMITED ¥EX{t THRA A

Management Discussion and Analysis

BEERWN D

LIQUIDITY, FINANCIAL RESOURCES AND CAPITAL STRUCTURE

The total shareholders' equity of the Group as at 31 December 2013 was
HK$2,131 million (31.12.2012: HK$1,894 million). As at 31 December
2013, the Group had current assets of HK$1,552 million (31.12.2012:
HK$1,771 million) and current liabilities of HK$§951 million (31.12.2012:
HK$390 million). The current ratio was 1.6 as at 31 December 2013 as
compared to 4.5 last year.

The Group generally finances its operations with internally generated
cash flow and credit facilities provided by its principal bankers in Hong
Kong and the PRC. As at 31 December 2013, the Group had outstanding
bank borrowings of HK$1,672 million (31.12.2012: HK$1,417 million).
These bank loans were secured by corporate guarantees provided by
the company and its certain subsidiaries. As at 31 December 2013,
the Group maintained bank balances and cash of HK$1,062 million
(31.12.2012: HK$1,520 million). The Group's net debt-to-equity ratio
(total borrowings net of cash and cash equivalents over shareholders’
equity) as at 31 December 2013 was 28%.

The Group's liquidity position remains strong and the Group possesses
sufficient cash and available banking facilities to meet its commitments,
working capital requirements and future investments for expansion.

EMPLOYEES

As at 31 December 2013, the Group had a workforce of about 1,200
people. Salaries of employees are maintained at competitive level and
are reviewed annually, with close reference to the relevant labour market
and economic situation. The Group also provides internal training to
staff and provides bonuses based upon staff performance and profits
of the Group. The Group has not experienced any significant problems
with its employees or disruption to its operations due to labour disputes
nor has it experienced any difficulty in the recruitment and retention
of experienced staff. The Group maintains a good relationship with its
employees.
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Corporate Governance Report
TEERWME

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE PRACTICES

The Company is committed to maintaining high standards of corporate
governance. The board of directors (the “Board”) of the Company
believes that sound and reasonable corporate governance practices
are essential for the growth of the Group and for safeguarding and
maximizing shareholders’ interests. On 1 April 2012, the Code on
Corporate Governance Practices (“Former CG Code") contained in
Appendix 14 to the Rules governing the Listing of Securities on The Stock
Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (“Listing Rules”) was amended and
renamed as Corporate Governance Code and Corporate Governance
Report (“New CG Code"). The Board is committed to complying with
the code provisions as stated in the New CG code to the extent that
the directors of the Company (“Directors”) consider it is applicable and
practical to the Company.

The Company has complied with New CG Code during the period from 1
January 2013 to 31 December 2013, except for the following deviation:

—  The Group has an Executive Chairman. No individual has been
appointed as a chief executive officer. The Executive Chairman with
the assistance of the Group's senior management team oversees
and manages the Group’s business. Other functions normally
undertaken by a chief executive officer of a company are delegated
to members of the Group’s senior management team. This structure
deviates from the code provision of Code that requires the roles of
the chairman and the chief executive officer to be separate and not
performed by the same individual. The Board has considered this
matter carefully and decided not to adopt the provision. The Board
believes that the current management structure has been effective
in facilitating the operation and development of the Group and its
business for a considerable period of time and that the necessary
checks and balances consistent with sound corporate governance
practices are in place. Accordingly, the Board does not consider it
necessary to change the current management structure. However,
the Board will review the management structure from time to time
to ensure it continues to meet these objectives.

DIRECTORS’ SECURITIES TRANSACTIONS

The Company has adopted the Model Code for Securities Transactions
by Directors of Listed Issuers ("“Model Code") as set out in Appendix 10
of the Listing Rules as a code of conduct regarding directors’ securities
transactions in 2004. All the members of the Board have confirmed,
following specific enquiry by the Company that they have complied
with the required standard as set out in the Model Code throughout the
year ended 31 December 2013. The Model Code also applies to other
specified senior management of the Group.
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Corporate Governance Report
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BOARD OF DIRECTORS

Composition and role
The Board comprises:

Executive director

Ms. Wai Siu Kee (Chairman)
Mr. Lee Man Yan

Mr. Yang Zuo Ning

Ms. Wong Yuet Ming

Independent non-executive director
Mr. Wong Kai Tung, Tony

Mr. Wan Chi Keung, Aaron BBS JP

Mr. Heng Victor Ja Wei

The Board comprises four executive directors (one of whom is the
Chairman) and three independent non-executive directors. The three
independent non-executive directors represent more than one-third of
the Board. In addition, three of the independent non-executive directors
possess appropriate legal, professional accounting qualifications and
financial management expertise.

The principal focus of the Board is on the overall strategic development
of the Group. The Board also monitors the financial performance and the
internal controls of the Group's business operations.

The independent non-executive directors also serve the important
function of ensuring and monitoring the basis for an effective corporate
governance framework. The Board considers that each independent non-
executive director is independent in character and judgment and that
they all meet the specific independence criteria as required by the Listing
Rules. The Company has received from each independent non-executive
director an annual confirmation or confirmation of his independence
pursuant to Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules. The independent non-
executive directors are explicitly identified in all of the Company's corporate
communications.

The Chairman is primarily responsible for drawing up and approving the
agenda for each board meeting in consultation with all directors. Notice
of at least 14 days have been given to all directors for all regular board
meetings and the directors can include matters for discussion in the
agenda if necessary. Agenda and accompanying board papers in respect
of regular board meetings are sent out in full to all directors within
reasonable time before the meeting. Draft minutes of all board meetings
are circulated to directors for comment within a reasonable time prior to
confirmation.
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Minutes of board meetings and meetings of board committees are kept
by duly appointed secretaries of the respective meetings and all directors
have access to board papers and related materials, and are provided with
adequate information in a timely manner, which enable the Board to
make an informed decision on matters placed before it.

During the year under review, 4 full board meetings were held and the
individual attendance of each director is set out below:
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ROBEFEAN  CARIREHESS  BE
EHREBERFIAT :

Number of board
meetings attended

Name of director EEpE HESRRE
Ms. Wai Siu Kee Bmimut 4
Mr. Lee Man Yan FNREE 4
Mr. Yang Zuo Ning BIEELEE 4
Ms. Wong Yuet Ming F AL+ 4
Mr. Wong Kai Tung, Tony ERERESE 4
Mr. Wan Chi Keung, Aaron BBS JP FRER I EBBS K FHi1 4
Mr. Heng Victor Ja Wei TR E 4

APPOINTMENT AND RE-ELECTION OF DIRECTORS

The Company has established the Nomination Committee with specific
written terms of reference. It comprises 4 members, namely, Ms. Wai
Siu Kee (Chairman of the Nomination Committee), Mr. Wong Kai
Tung, Tong, Mr. Wan Chi Keung, Aaron and Mr. Heng Victor Ja Wei. For
appointment of new Director, the background, experience, professional
skills, availability to commit to the affairs of the Company and, in case of
INED, the independence requirements set out in the Listing Rules, of the
potential appointee will be taken into consideration.

Pursuant to the Articles of Association of the Company, all newly
appointed director of the Company shall hold office until the next AGM
and shall then be eligible for re-election. Every Director, including those
appointed for a specific term shall be subject to retirement by rotation at
least once every three years at the AGM. The retiring Directors shall be
eligible for re-election.

The Company's circular to be despatched to shareholders of the

Company will contain detailed information of the Directors standing for
re-election.
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AUDIT COMMITTEE

The Audit Committee was established in 2001 and its current members
include:

Mr. Heng Victor Ja Wei (Chairman)
Mr. Wong Kai Tung, Tony
Mr. Wan Chi Keung, Aaron BBS JP

The Board considers that each Audit Committee member has broad
commercial experience and there is a suitable mix of expertise in
accounting, business and legal on the Audit Committee. The composition
and members of the Audit Committee complies with the requirements
under Rule 3.21 of the Listing Rules. The new written terms of reference
which describe the authority and duties of the Audit Committee were
adopted in March 2012 to conform to the provisions of the New CG
Code, a copy of which is posted on the Company's website.

The Audit Committee meets regularly to review the Group's financial
reporting and other information to shareholders, the system of internal
controls, risk management and the effectiveness and objectiveness of
the audit process. The Audit Committee also provides an important
link between the Board and the Company's auditors in matters coming
within the scope of its terms of reference and keeps under review the
independence and objectivity of the auditors.

The Audit Committee has reviewed with the management the accounting
principles and practices adopted by the Group and discussed internal
controls and financial reporting matters including a review of the accounts
for the year ended 31 December 2013.

During the year, three Audit Committee meetings were held and the
individual attendance of each member is set out below:
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REMUNERATION COMMITTEE

The Remuneration Committee was established in 2005 and its current
members include:

Mr. Heng Victor Ja Wei (Chairman)
Mr. Wong Kai Tung, Tony
Mr. Wan Chi Keung, Aaron BBS JP

All members of the Remuneration Committee are independent non-
executive directors. The Remuneration Committee advises the Board
on the Group's overall policy and structure for the remuneration of
directors and senior management. The Remuneration Committee
ensures that no director or any of his associate is involved in deciding
his own remuneration. The new terms of reference of the Remuneration
Committee were adopted in March 2012 to conform to the provisions of
the New CG Code, a copy of which is posted on the Company’s website.

In determining the emolument payable to directors, the Remuneration
Committee takes into consideration factors such as salaries paid by
comparable companies, time commitment and responsibilities of the
directors, employment conditions elsewhere in the Group and the
desirability of performance-based remuneration.

The Remuneration Committee has met during the year to determine
the policy for the remuneration of directors and assess performance of
executive directors and certain senior management and all members
have attended in the meeting.

Auditors’ Remuneration

For the year ended 31 December 2013, the auditors of the Company
only provided audit services to the Company.
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NOMINATION COMMITTEE

The Nomination Committee was established in March 2012 and its
current members include:

Ms. Wai Siu Kee (Chairman)

Mr. Heng Victor Ja Wei

Mr. Wong Kai Tung, Tony

Mr. Wan Chi Keung, Aaron BBS JP

The majority members are independent non-executive directors. The
Nomination Committee has the duty of reviewing annually the board
structure and composition.

The terms of reference of the Nomination Committee were adopted in
March 2012 to confirm to the provision of the New CG Code, a copy of
which is posted on the Company’s website.

The Nomination Committee has met during the year to approve and
adopt its terms of reference, all members have attended in the meeting.

BOARD DIVERSITY

During the year, the Company continued to monitor the board
composition with regard to its diversity policy which requires board
appointments to be made based on merit and candidates to be
considered against an objective criteria, including diversity. In order to
maintain an appropriate mix and balance of talent, skills, experience
and background on the Board, the Nomination Committee developed
measurable objectives to implement this policy and monitored progress
towards achieving these objectives during the year ended 31 December
2013.

The current board composition was also evaluated by reference to,
among other things, the age, gender, cultural and educational background
and professional experience of each director, against the Company's
business model and specific needs.

The Company believes diversity is important to enhance the Board's
effectiveness by encouraging a diversity of perspectives and to maintain
high standards of corporate governance. The Company will continue to
monitor and develop new objectives for implementing and achieving
improved diversity on the Board as and when it considers appropriate
with regard to the specific needs of the Company and the market from
time to time.
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TRAINING FOR DIRECTORS

Each newly appointed Director receives comprehensive, formal and
tailored induction on his appointment, so as to ensure that he has
appropriate understanding of the business and operations of the Group
and that he is fully aware of his responsibilities and obligations under
the Listing Rules and relevant regulatory requirements. There are also
arrangements in place for providing continuing briefing and professional
development to Directors at the Company’s expenses whenever
necessary.

The Company provides regular updates and presentations on changes
and developments relating to the Group's business and the legislative
and regulatory environments to the Directors at Board meetings or
through emails.

The Directors are committed to complying with Code Provision A.6.5 of
the New CG Code which came into effect on 1 April 2012 on Directors’
training. All Directors have participated in continuous professional
development to develop and refresh their knowledge and skills and
provided a record of training they received for the year ended 31
December 2013 to the Company. The type of training received is
summarized below:

—  reading regulatory updates; and

—  attending seminars/forum/workshops relevant to the directors’
duties.

COMPANY SECRETARY

Ms. Wong Yuet Ming joined the Group in 2004 and has been the
company secretary of the company since 2006. She is responsible
for advising the Board on governance matters and facilitates induction
and professional development of the Directors. The appointment and
dismissal of the company secretary are subject to the Board approval in
accordance with the Articles of Association. Pursuant to Rule 3.29 of the
Listing Rules which came into effect on 1 January 2012, the company
secretary has taken no less than 15 hours of relevant professional training
in the year under review.

INTERNAL CONTROLS

The Board has overall responsibility for the system of internal controls of
the Group and for reviewing its effectiveness. The Board is committed
to implementing an effective and sound internal controls system to
safeguard the interest of shareholders and the Group's assets. The
Board has delegated to executive management the implementation of
the system of internal controls and reviewing of all relevant financial,
operational, compliance controls and risk management function within an
established framework.
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DIRECTORS’ RESPONSIBILITY STATEMENT

The directors are responsible for the preparation of accounts for each
financial period which give a true and fair view of the state of affairs of
the Group and of the results and cash flow for that period. In preparing
the accounts for the year ended 31 December 2013, the directors have
selected suitable accounting policies and applied them consistently;
adopted appropriate Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards and Hong
Kong Accounting Standards; made adjustments and estimates that are
prudent and reasonable; and have prepared the accounts on the going
concern basis. The directors are also responsible for keeping proper
accounting records which disclose with reasonable accuracy at any time
the financial position of the Group.

SHAREHOLDERS' RIGHTS

The Company has only one class of shares. All shares have the same
voting rights and are entitled to the dividend declared. The rights of the
shareholders of the Company (“Shareholders”) are set out in Company's
Articles or Association.

Shareholders of the Company can: (i) convene an extraordinary general
meeting; (i) forward enquiries to the board of directors; (iii) forward
proposals at shareholders’ meetings and (iv) nominate Directors for
election. Details of relevant procedures are available on the Company’s
website.

INVESTOR RELATIONS AND COMMUNICATION

The Board is committed to providing clear and full information about the
Group's performance to shareholders through the publication of interim
results and annual results in a timely manner. In addition to dispatching
circulars, notices and financial reports to shareholders, additional
information is also available to shareholders on the website of the
Company.

The annual general meeting provides a useful forum for shareholders to
raise comments and exchange views with the Board. Shareholders are
encouraged to attend annual general meetings for which the Company
gives at least 21 days' notice. The Chairman and Directors and external
auditors are available to answer questions on the Company's businesses
at the meeting.

Separate resolutions are proposed at the general meetings on each
substantially separate issue, including the election of individual
directors. In addition, poll voting procedure is included in the circular to
shareholders dispatched together with the annual report.

CONSTITUTIONAL DOCUMENTS

There was no significant change in the Company's constitutional
documents for the year ended 31 December 2013.
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Profile of Directors and Senior Management

EERSREEEEHN

EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR

Ms. WAI Siu Kee, aged 69, Chairman of the Company who joined the
Group since its establishment in 1976. She is also the founder, chairman
and chief executive officer of Lee & Man Handbags Holding Limited
(Stock Code: 1488). Ms. Wai has more than 48 years of experience in
the manufacturing industry. She is responsible for the development of
corporate strategies, corporate planning and overall management of the
Group and in particular the marketing and development of the business
of the Group. Ms. Wai is the honorary permanent president of the Hong
Kong Baptist University Foundation.

Mr. LEE Man Yan, aged 36, an Executive Director and Managing
Director of the Group. He is in charge of the corporate and strategic
planning of the chemical business segment, and is responsible for
the procurement, staff recruitment, public relations in the PRC and
management operations of the chemical business. He graduated from
the University of British Columbia, Canada with a bachelor's degree in
commerce. He joined the Group in 2000. Mr. Lee is a son of Ms. Wai
Siu Kee, the Group’s Chairman. Mr. Lee is also a member of Chinese
People’s Political Consultative Committee of Jiangxi.

Mr. YANG Zuo Ning, aged 52, an Executive Director and Deputy
Managing Director of the Group. He joined the Group in 2006. He is
a national acclaimed senior engineer and has 31 years of production
experience in chlor-alkali industries. He is responsible for the production
supervision, corporate strategic planning and general management of
Jiangsu Lee & Man Chemical Ltd.

Ms. WONG Yuet Ming, aged 49, an Executive Director, Financial
Controller and Company Secretary of the Group. She is also the company
secretary of Lee & Man Handbags Holding Limited (Stock Code: 1488).
She joined the Group in 2004 and has over 24 years of experience in the
field of auditing and accounting. She holds a master's degree in business
administration from the University of Surrey, United Kingdom. She is a
fellow member of the Association of Chartered Certified Accountants
and an associate member of the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public
Accountants. She is responsible for the supervision and management of
the Group's financial matters.
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EERSREEERGN
INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Mr. WONG Kai Tung, Tony, aged 71, an Independent Non-Executive
Director of the Group. He has been a practicing lawyer in Hong Kong
since 1968 and has also been admitted as a solicitor in England and
Wales. He is currently a consultant at Messrs. Hastings & Co., Solicitors
and Notaries.

Mr. WAN Chi Keung, Aaron BBS, JP, aged 64, an Independent Non-
Executive Director of the Group. He holds a Master Degree in Business
Administration of the Chinese University of Hong Kong and a Master
Degree in Buddhist studies of the University of Hong Kong, also an
associate of the Institution of Business Agents, a member of the Land
Institute (London), an associate of the Chartered Institute of Arbitrators
and a fellow of The Institute of Administrative Accounting. He is engaged
in the business of property and chattel valuation and auction and has
over 30 years of related experience.

Mr. HENG Victor Ja Wei, aged 36, an Independent Non-Executive
Director of the Group. He is a partner of Morison Heng, Certified Public
Accountants. He holds a master of science degree of the Imperial College
of Science, Technology and Medicine, the University of London. He is
a member of The Association of Chartered Certified Accountants and
member of The Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants.
Mr. Heng serves as an independent non-executive director in China Fire
Safety Enterprise Group Limited (Stock Code: 0445), Matrix Holdings
Limited (Stock Code: 1005), Lee & Man Handbags Holding Limited
(Stock Code: 1488) whose shares are listed on the Main Board of The
Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited. He also serves as the company
secretary and authorized representative of China Life Insurance Company
Limited (Stock Code: 2628).
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SENIOR MANAGEMENT

Mr. LAM Hiu Fung, aged 43, Deputy Financial Controller of the Group.
He joined the Group in 2005 and has 20 years of experience in financial
management. He holds a bachelor's degree in Accountancy from City
University of Hong Kong and a master's degree in International Business
from the Chinese University of Hong Kong. He is a fellow member of
the Association of Chartered Certified Accountants and an associate
member of the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants. He
is responsible for the supervision on the financial matters, tax issues and
general management of Jiangsu Lee & Man Chemical Limited.

Mr. HUI Jun, Dan, aged 59, Sales Director of the Group. He joined the
Group in 2005 and has over 32 years experience in sales, marketing and
business development in overseas and PRC enterprises. He is responsible
for developing the Company's sales strategies, exploring potential markets
and logistics management of Jiangsu Lee & Man Chemical Ltd.

Mr. XIA Xu Dong, aged 39, Director of Production of Jiangsu Lee &
Man Chemical Ltd. He joined the Group in 2006 and has 17 years of
production experience in chlor-alkali industries. He is responsible for the
production and general management of Jiangsu Lee & Man Chemical Ltd.

Dr. TSE Man Kin, aged 42, Director of Research & Development of the
Group. He joined the Group in 2008 and has 19 years of experience
in chemical research and research management. He holds a Ph.D in
Chemistry from the Chinese University of Hong Kong and is a member
of the American Chemical Society. He is responsible for the research and
development of Jiangsu Lee & Man Chemical Ltd.

Mr. WU Zeng Long, aged 44, Director of Sales of Jiangsu Lee & Man
Chemical Limited. He joined the Group in 2007 and has 21 years of
experience in sales, marketing and business development. He holds a
bachelor's degree in applied chemistry. He is responsible for sales and
logistics activities of Jiangsu Lee & Man Chemical Ltd.

Mr. CHEAH Ming Huat, aged 41, Financial Controller of Jiangxi Lee
& Man Chemical Limited. He joined the Group in 2011 and has 16
years of experience in financial management. He is a fellow member
of the Association of Chartered Certified Accountants and chartered
accountant of Malaysian Institute of Accountants. He is responsible for
the supervision on the financial matters, treasure management, internal
control, tax issues and general management of Jiangxi Lee & Man
Chemical Limited.
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Directors’ Report
EEEHRE

The directors present their annual report and the audited consolidated
financial statements for the year ended 31 December 2013.

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES

The Company is an investment holding company and the Group is
principally engaged in the manufacture and sale of chemical products.

The activities of its principal subsidiaries are set out in note 35 to the
consolidated financial statements.

RESULTS AND APPROPRIATIONS

The results of the Group for the year ended 31 December 2013
are set out in the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other
comprehensive income on page 29.

An interim dividend of HK7 cents per share amounting to
HK$57,750,000 in aggregate was paid to the shareholders during the
year.

The directors now recommend the payment of a final dividend of HK7
cents per share to the shareholders on the register of members on 23
May 2014, amounting to HK$57,750,000 in total, and the retention of
the remaining profit for the year of HK$193,232,000.

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

During the year, the Group acquired property, plant and equipment at a
cost of approximately HK$980,907,000 for the purpose of expanding its
business. Details of these and other movements in the property, plant
and equipment of the Group during the year are set out in note 14 to
the consolidated financial statements.
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DIRECTORS

The directors of the Company during the year and up to the date of this
report were:

Executive directors

Ms. Wai Siu Kee (Chairman)
Mr. Lee Man Yan

Mr. Yang Zuo Ning

Ms. Wong Yuet Ming

Independent non-executive directors
Mr. Wong Kai Tung, Tony

Mr. Wan Chi Keung, Aaron BBS JP

Mr. Heng Victor Ja Wei

In accordance with the provisions of the Company's Articles of Association,
Mr. Wan Chi Keung, Aaron and Mr. Heng Victor Ja Wei will retire at
the forthcoming annual general meeting and being eligible, will offer
themselves for re-election.

The term of office of each of the other independent non-executive
directors is the period up to his retirement as required by the Company’s
Articles of Association.

DIRECTORS’ SERVICE CONTRACTS

Ms. Wai Siu Kee has entered into a service agreement with the Company
on 1 September 2011 for a period of 3 years, which will continue
thereafter unless and until terminated by either party by three months’
prior written notice.

Mr. Lee Man Yan has entered into a service agreement with the Company
for an initial period of three years commencing 16 August 2013, which
will continue thereafter unless and until terminated by either party by
three months' prior written notice.

Mr. Yang Zuo Ning and Ms. Wong Yuet Ming have each renewed into
a service agreement with the Company for a fixed term of one year
commencing 27 June 2013, which will be terminated by either party by
three months' prior written notice.
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DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN SHARES AND UNDERLYING
SHARES

At 31 December 2013, the interests and short positions of directors and
chief executives of the Company and their associates in the shares and
underlying shares of the Company and its associated corporations (within
the meaning of Part XV of the Securities and Future Ordinance (the “SFO")
which have been notified of the Company and The Stock Exchange of
Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock Exchange”) pursuant to Divisions 7 and
8 of Part XV of the SFO, or which were recorded in the register required
to be kept pursuant to section 352 of the SFO, or as otherwise notified
to the Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to the Model Code for
Securities Transactions by Directors of Listed Issuers (the “Model Code”)
of the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on the Stock Exchange (the
“Listing Rules”) were as follows:

(a) Long positions in shares of the Company

Ordinary shares of HK$0.10 each of the Company

Number of issued

ESRRNRERKRGRZEDR

R2013F 12 A3 B, A RGBS EZERESTT
BABRFEEZHBEANRARA T R ERH
E(TERBHLBEKRN(ESRBEK
B 1) SEBXVER) M AR 15 K AR B IR e B W 78 AR
BEARHEENEXNVBEIRSD D HE
KARRBEEBERBAR AR BEZAT])
NEBERSNAR B BN EF L EE
Bl 352157817 B 2 Z e, s E IR IRE: P
FHELEMRB( EERA Dz EHARESE
TEHFR G 2IZEFR(ZETR NS AR
RIRBE R AT MRS ORI ¢

(@) RAERARBZHER

KRB0 BT 2 L@

Percentage of
the issued share capital

Name of director Capacity ordinary shares held of the Company

EEpA 8% ZERHE HEBRITRAB DL

Lee Man Yan Held by controlled corporation 618,750,000 75%
(note)

FXR HEEEERE (Btt)

note: These shares are held by Fortune Star Tradings Ltd. (“Fortune Star").

(b) Share options

Number of ordinary

Mfat : £ at B 5 T3 B Fortune Star Tradings Ltd.
([Fortune Star] )35 -

(b) B

Percentage of

shares subject the issued share capital

Name of director Capacity to options granted of the Company
EEpA 514 ERHEBERECESBREE HEBRITRAB DL
Lee Man Yan Beneficial Owner 82,500,000 10%
FXR BEmEEA
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ESRRNRERKRGRZER(F)

(c) Long positions in shares of the associated corporations of (c) RAQFEELIE 2RO FE
the Company

Percentage

Name of of the issued shares

associated Number of issued of the associated

Name of Director Capacity company ordinary shares held company

FriFE 1T 1R AREEE

EEpA 8% HEEE B HERBE ERITRAFOLE

Lee Man Yan Beneficial owner Fortune Star 45 (note) 45%
FXRB BEmEAA (B1at)

note: As Fortune Star owns more than 50% of the Company, Fortune Star is an
associated corporation of the Company under the SFO. The entire issued share
capital of Fortune Star is owned by Mr. Lee Man Yan, a Director, as to 45% and
Mr. Lee Wan Keung as to the remaining 55%. Ms. Wai Siu Kee is a director of

Fortune Star.

Other than disclosed above, none of the directors or the chief executive,
or any of their associates, had any interests or short positions in any
shares and underlying shares of the Company or any of its associated
corporations, which had to be notified to the Company and the Stock
Exchange pursuant to Divisions 7 and 8 of Part XV of the SFO, or which
were required, pursuant to section 352 of the SFO, to be entered in the
register referred to therein or which were required, pursuant to the Model
Code, to be notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange.

SHARE OPTIONS

A share option scheme was adopted by the Company on 14 December
20071, under which the directors or the chief executive of the Company
or their associates may be granted options to subscribe for shares in the
Company.

Details of the share option scheme and movement of the share options
during the year are set out in note 28 to the consolidated financial
statements.

ARRANGEMENTS TO PURCHASE SHARES OR DEBENTURES

Other than the share option scheme disclosed above, at no time during
the year was the Company, its holding company, or any of its subsidiaries
and fellow subsidiaries, a party to any arrangements to enable the
directors of the Company to acquire benefits by means of the acquisition
of shares in, or debentures of, the Company or any other body corporate.
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SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS

At 31 December 2013, shareholders (other than directors and chief
executive of the Company) who had interests and short positions in the
shares and underlying shares of the Company which have been disclosed
to the Company under the provisions of Division 2 and 3 of Part XV of
the SFO, or which were recorded in the register required to be kept by
the Company under section 336 of the SFO were as follows:

Long positions

Ordinary shares of HK$0.10 each of the Company

Number of issued

FERR

R2013F12A31H - RE(ARQRFEEZHR
BITEABBRIN RARE 2 BRHD RAERIRHD
o RAREES R EENEXVIBE2 L3
DEBRARBHEE « KB LERIRIEE
MEAEGBIE3I36IKER AR EIFE 2 B
ZRERRABIT -

wR

Percentage of
the issued share capital

Name of shareholders Capacity ordinary shares held of the Company

RERME 514 HBERHAE HEBRITRAB DL

Fortune Star Beneficial owner 618,750,000 75%
EREBA

Other than disclosed above, as at 31 December 2013, the Company Bk EXFTH#REE - R2013F 124318 - #i &

has not been notified by any persons (other than directors and chief
executives of the Company) who had interests or short positions in
the shares or underlying shares of the Company which would fall to be
disclosed to the Company under the provision of Divisions 2 and 3 of
Part XV of the SFO, or which were recorded in the register required to be
kept by the Company under section 336 of the SFO.

CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS

Details of the related party transactions for the year are set out in note 33
to the consolidated financial statements which are also the discloseable
connected transaction pursuant to Listing Rules. In the opinion of the
independent non-executive directors, these transactions entered into by
the Group were:

(i) inthe ordinary and usual course of business of the Group;

(i) either (a) on normal commercial terms; or (b) where there was no
available comparison, on terms that were fair and reasonable so far
as the shareholders of the Company were concerned;

(i) either (@) in accordance with the terms of the agreements; or (b)
where there were no such agreements, on terms no less favourable
than those available to or from independent third parties; and

(iv) within the relevant cap amounts as agreed by the Stock Exchange.

Save as disclosed above, there were no other transactions which need

to be disclosed as connected transactions in accordance with the
requirements of the Listing Rules.
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DIRECTORS’ INTEREST IN CONTRACTS OF SIGNIFICANCE

Other than as disclosed under the heading “Connected transactions”, no
contracts of significance to which the Company, its holding company or
any of its fellow subsidiaries and subsidiaries was a party and in which
a director of the Company had a material interest, whether directly and
indirectly, subsisted at the end of the year or at any time during the year.

MAIJOR CUSTOMERS AND SUPPLIERS

During the year, the aggregate sales attributable to the Group's five
largest customers were less than 30% of total revenue.

The aggregate purchases during the year attributable to the Group's five
largest suppliers were approximately 54% of the Group's total purchases
and the purchases attributable to the Group's largest supplier were
approximately 19% of the Group's total purchases.

None of the directors, their associates or any shareholders which, to the
knowledge of the directors, owned more than 5% of the Company's
issued share capital had any interest in the share capital of any of the five
largest customers of the Group.

PURCHASE, SALE OR REDEMPTION OF THE COMPANY'S
LISTED SECURITIES

During the year, neither the Company nor any of its subsidiaries
purchased, sold or redeemed any of the Company's listed securities.

PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS

There are no provision for pre-emptive rights under the Company's
Articles of Association, or the laws of the Cayman Islands, which would
oblige the Company to offer new shares on a pro-rata basis to existing
shareholders.

INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS
The Company has received, from each of the independent non-executive
directors, an annual confirmation of his independence pursuant to Rule

3.13 of the Listing Rules. The Company considers all of the independent
non-executive directors are independent.
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EMOLUMENT POLICY

The emolument policy of the employees of the Group is set up by the
Remuneration Committee on the basis of their merit, qualifications and
competence.

The emoluments of the directors of the Company are decided by the
Remuneration Committee, having regard to the Company's operating
results, individual performance and comparable market statistics.

The Company has adopted a share option scheme as an incentive to
directors and eligible employees. Details of the scheme are set out in
note 28 to the consolidated financial statements.

SUFFICIENCY OF PUBLIC FLOAT

The Company has maintained a sufficient public float throughout the year
ended 31 December 2013.

AUDITOR

A resolution will be submitted to the annual general meeting of the
Company to re-appoint Messrs. Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu as auditor of
the Company.

On behalf of the Board

Wai Siu Kee

CHAIRMAN

Hong Kong, 17 March 2014
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Independent Auditor’s Report
B 2 BEN RS

Deloitte.
=E)

TO THE MEMBERS OF LEE & MAN CHEMICAL COMPANY LIMITED
(incorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited liability)

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of Lee & Man
Chemical Company Limited (the “Company”) and its subsidiaries
(collectively referred to as the “Group”) set out on pages 29 to 113,
which comprise the consolidated statement of financial position as at
31 December 2013, and the consolidated statement of profit or loss
and other comprehensive income, consolidated statement of changes in
equity and consolidated statement of cash flows for the year then ended,
and a summary of significant accounting policies and other explanatory
information.

DIRECTORS’ RESPONSIBILITY FOR THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The directors of the Company are responsible for the preparation
of consolidated financial statements that give a true and fair view in
accordance with Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards issued by the
Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants and the disclosure
requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance, and for such
internal control as the directors determine is necessary to enable the
preparation of consolidated financial statements that are free from
material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITY

Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these consolidated financial
statements based on our audit and to report our opinion solely to you,
as a body, in accordance with our agreed terms of engagement, and for
no other purpose. We do not assume responsibility towards or accept
liability to any other person for the contents of this report. We conducted
our audit in accordance with Hong Kong Standards on Auditing issued by
the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants. Those standards
require that we comply with ethical requirements and plan and perform
the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the consolidated
financial statements are free from material misstatement.

27

Annual Report 2013 F 1R

BEXCEIARAFARRE
(REJBE B HRAA])

AEEEITEERHNE29BEE 1138
XAETHERAR( EAR]) REKBR A
([#EA BB 2FREUBHE - WEM
BHRERBIER2013F12A31 B 2548 855K
MK HEEZALFEZHEABRENEM
PHERER  GEEZEDEREEEESR
BRCUNTESHBEBERE MU TR
7 o

ESHGaMBERRARBZRE

BERREZABARBEBGAMAGRMG
BBV HRE LR REE RN ZKE
RERBIBERAFZHEEMBRE - IE
BEERARmIGEVBEREAVEZARAN
FRESHE - LAMEAR A IS IRR Y B KR sl 88
RME R 2 EAFHERIRL

BRME R

AZEMTZEERRBARTZERER
UZEGRAVBHRRELER » LREES
e iR - EREERREE - M AEEAM
ik - ARBETHRIRARE 2 AR AT
I EA AT BB SAEERNEE - AREE
TERBEEESHMASRMNE BRI E
APETTEZTE - ZFEAEREMETE
ERELREILATESR LA ERTEME
RAEVBRREE NEAEMERERERAL -



LEE & MAN CHEMICAL COMPANY LIMITED ¥EX{t THRA A

Independent Auditor’s Report
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AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITY (CONTINUED)

An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about
the amounts and disclosures in the consolidated financial statements.
The procedures selected depend on the auditor's judgment, including
the assessment of the risks of material misstatement of the consolidated
financial statements, whether due to fraud or error. In making those risk
assessments, the auditor considers internal control relevant to the entity's
preparation of the consolidated financial statements that give a true
and fair view in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in
the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on
the effectiveness of the entity's internal control. An audit also includes
evaluating the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the
reasonableness of accounting estimates made by the directors, as
well as evaluating the overall presentation of the consolidated financial
statements.

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and
appropriate to provide a basis for our audit opinion.

OPINION

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a true and fair
view of the state of affairs of the Group as at 31 December 2013, and of
the Group's profit and cash flows for the year then ended in accordance
with Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards and have been properly
prepared in accordance with the disclosure requirements of the Hong
Kong Companies Ordinance.

Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu
Certified Public Accountants

Hong Kong 17 March 2014
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Consolidated Statement of Profit or Loss and Other Comprehensive Income
ceBEakHEMEERKRAR

(For the year ended 31 December 2013) (EZ=2013F12A318EFE)

2013 2012
Notes HK$°000 HK$'000
Hist FHET FHT
Revenue WA 5&6 1,329,131 1,520,512
Cost of sales SHEE AR (855,224) (998,257)
Gross profit EF| 473,907 522,255
Other income HAp A 7 177,449 144,630
Net gain from fair value changes on PTES R T A ¥
derivative financial instruments 13,967 6,970
Selling and distribution costs SHE & SHA AR (60,954) (58,312)
General and administrative expenses 1T E A (104,120) (106,788)
Research and development cost g A (77,393) (51,433)
Finance costs BE AR 9 (48,359) (38,046)
Share of profit (loss) of joint ventures & EE RN (EER) 460 (325)
Profit before taxation B A E A 374,957 418,951
Income tax expense FriSfiz 8 (66,225) (57,014)
Profit for the year F IR A 9 308,732 361,937
Other comprehensive income (expense) Hft2HEWE(ZH)
Items that will not be reclassified to HETEET I HEZEm
profit or loss: EH -
Exchange differences arising on translation RpEmEENER Z8 41,273 (2,116)
Net gain (loss) on hedging instruments in ReREPIA Y
cash flow hedges Wezs (B18) 4514 (4,503)
Other comprehensive income (expense) FAHMEERE ()
for the year 45,787 (6,619)
Total comprehensive income for the year FR2HEREREE 354,519 355,318
Earnings per share: BRERM 10
— Basic (HK cents) —EAR(EW) 37.4 439
— Diluted (HK cents) —#E OB 37.4 439
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(At 31 December 2013) (H2013F12A318)

NON-CURRENT ASSETS

Property, plant and equipment

Prepaid lease payments

Investment property

Intangible assets

Deposits paid for the acquisition of
property, plant and equipment

Deposit paid for land use right

Interests in joint ventures

Loan to a joint venture

Other deposit

Derivative financial instruments

Deferred tax asset

CURRENT ASSETS

Inventories

Prepaid lease payments

Trade and other receivables
Loan to a joint venture

Amount due from a joint venture
Derivative financial instruments
Bank balances and cash

CURRENT LIABILITIES

Trade and other payables

Amount due to a related company
Taxation payable

Derivative financial instruments

Bank borrowings — due within 1 year

NET CURRENT ASSETS

TOTAL ASSETS LESS CURRENT
LIABILITIES

FRBEE

E NI G
BENHEEFR
BREME

BV EE

BEVE BEEREBZ

EfNEIE
TiEREZ BN
BEEE R
BREBEZER
BRI &
TEERTA
ERERIAEE

REBEE

&

TaNEERE
FEE 5 B BA IR
BREBEZER
BEERZEKFIA
TEERTA
RITREBERE

REAE
FERNTE 5 R BA 50R
e R A FIFKIR

FERTEIR
ITEERITA

RITIEK—15FAZIH

RBEEFE

REERRBRE
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Notes
Kzt

14
15
16
17

18
21

22

19
15
20
21
21
22
23

24
25

22
26

2013
HK$'000
FTET

2,251,570
82,109
48,470

6,282

178,326

27,338
2,038
360
26,372

2,622,865

116,578
1,913
270,470
83,353
15,927
2,024
1,061,504

1,551,769

327,799
2,938
38,289
502
581,414

950,942

600,827

3,223,692

2012
HK$'000
TAT

1,346,493
63,291

7,337

205,970
9,046
25,047
64,390

1,721,574

76,253
941
160,038

6,211
6,941
1,520,219

1,770,603

152,025
6,989
12,629

218,826

390,469

1,380,134

3,101,708



NON-CURRENT LIABILITIES
Bank borrowings — due after 1 year
Derivative financial instruments

NET ASSETS

CAPITAL AND RESERVES
Share capital
Reserves

The consolidated financial statements on pages 29 to 113 were
approved and authorised for issue by the Board of Directors on 17 March

2014 and are signed on its behalf by:

Wai Siu Kee
EHOH
Chairman
FE

FRBEE
RITIER— 1512 2IH
TEERTA

AEEFE
EXRf#E

LN
G
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2013 2012
Notes HK$'000 HK$'000
Kt FTExT TAET
26 1,090,273 1,198,130
22 2,811 9,739

1,093,084 1,207,869

2,130,608 1,893,839

27 82,500 82,500
2,048,108 1,811,339

2,130,608 1,893,839

F20BEEFVIEMFZGEATBRRER
2014F3 A17HKESSRB MRERZEL
AT EEREREE

Lee Man Yan
=3
Director

EF



LEE & MAN CHEMICAL COMPANY LIMITED EI{t THERAE

Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity

*E) < 4k E}J 7:!‘:2

n\/—_l_\
(For the year ended 31 December 2013) (#Z=2013F12A318ILFE)
Non-
distri- Safety Share Acc-
Share Share  butable fund Translation  Hedging  options  Special  umulated
capital  premium feserve reserve reserve feserve feserve feserve profits Total
AR %3 BhE
B ROEE BE  EARE ENRE  HAER i BARE 2R At
HK$ 000 HK$ 000 HK$000 HK$000 HK$'000 HK$ 000 HK$000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$ 000
Tirn Fin Fin TEr T T T Tin Tin Tin
(notei) (note )
(BiH) (M)
A1 Januay 2012 W0NE1A1A 050 20307 12697 SN Q03 194 (736) 1258063 1658621
Exchange differences arising from translation BREmEENEL 8 - - - - (2116) - - - - (,116)
Net adjustment on cash flow hedges ReEh AR - - - - - (4503) - - - (4503)
Other comprehensive expense for the year FREBRER LSS - - - - (216 (4503) - - = (6619)
Proftfor the year FRgF - - - - - - - - 361937 361937
Total comprehensive (expense) income for the year EREE (T R - - - - @16)  (4503) - - %1937 355318
Recogniton of eqity-setled share-based payments BARAEERER S - - - - - - 280% - - 282%
Cash dividends recognised as distibution (Note 11) BERARL ALRE () - - - - - - - - (165000)  (165,000)
Transfer to non-disributable reserve fund NPT REEES - - 39703 - - - - - (39703) -
Recogniton of safety fund resee TREGREIRD - - = 16,644 = = = = = 16,644
At 31 December 2012 R2012%128318 82,500 20,307 166,640 16,644 139,849 (7466) 157430 (97362) 1415297 1,893,839
Exchange differences arisng fiom translaion REEMELNELZR - - - = 41273 = = = = 41273
Net adjustment on cash flow hedges Remin ARTE - - - - - 4514 - - = 4514
Other comprehensive income for the year ENEMEEREEE - - - - 473 4514 - = = 45787
Proftfor the year FREF - - - - - - - - 308732 308732
Totel comprehensive income for the year ER2ELE = = = = 473 4514 = - 308732 354519
Recognition of eqity-settled share-based payments AR EE BER S - - - - - - 6,000 = = 6,000
Cash dividends recognised as distbution (Note 11) BRANEZAERE (W) - - - - - - - - (123750 (123750)
Transfer to non-distibutable reserve fund BT DREEEE - - 37,701 - - - - - @370) =
Transfer fiom safety fund resene REEGHE BT - - - (833) - - - - 833 -
At 31 December 2013 H013E128318 @500 20307 204341 15811 18LI2 (952) 163430 (9736) 1563411 2130608
notes: Hst
0) According to the relevant laws in the People’s Republic of China (“PRC"), wholly (i) WEREARLME([HE])BBERE - ERE
foreign-owned enterprises in the PRC are required to transfer at least 10% of their E’]&\\ﬁﬁ%;ﬁ,i@;rd\100/05%%%?§5§$‘J(7f§?§¢
net profits after taxation, as determined under the PRC accounting regulations, to Bk ;,HE;EE;E)ITT DIRFEE  EREES
a non-distributable reserve fund until the reserve balance reaches 50% of their BRIEE ufﬂﬁ§$50% o HEHEZEENBED KR
registered capital. The transfer to this reserve must be made before the distribution BAERRERAT - TA[H /ﬁf%ﬁﬁ—fﬁm‘ﬁﬁ/ﬁi@&iﬁ
of a dividend to equity owners. The non-distributable reserve fund can be used to EE(mng) - [ﬁ%‘%ﬁ%ﬁl\ F AR RIRFEERTED
offset the previous years' losses, if any. The non-distributable reserve fund is non- K °
distributable other than upon liquidation.
(i) The special reserve of the Group represents the difference between the nominal (i) REE 2 FREEBHARAEB2001F1282

value of the share capital issued by the Company and the nominal value of the
share capital of the subsidiaries acquired pursuant to a group reorganisation in
December 2001.
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(For the year ended 31 December 2013) (EZE2013F12A3181EFE)

OPERATING ACTIVITIES

Profit before tax

Adjustments for:
Depreciation of property, plant and equipment
Share-based payment expense
Finance costs
Release of prepaid lease payments
Amortisation of intangible assets
Loss on disposal of property, plant and equipment
Net gain from fair value changes on derivative

financial instruments

Interest income

Share of (profit) loss of joint ventures

Operating cash flows before movements in
working capital

(Increase) decrease in inventories

(Increase) decrease in trade and other receivables

Increase (decrease) in trade and other payables

Increase in derivative financial instruments

(Decrease) increase in amount due to a related

company

Cash generated from operations

Income tax paid

NET CASH FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES

REXK
FR AR BT & A
R
ME - BERERBZTE
Btn ST RS
BERA
BHBEAEER
B A EHH
HEMX - BB KREEER
PTESRMTIAQATES
PRES 2 e
FEWA
EEEEFRFIEEBR

& 5 5%Ziiiﬁﬂ IR GBI D
FEFTE 5 K EoAh s RE A Opl )
PTES BT AIEN

FEf BAE 2 R FRIR ORl 4 )38 h0

REXBBRS

EfAEHE

REXBRERSFH
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2013
HK$'000
TET

374,957

119,381
6,000
48,359
1,790
1,227
169

(13,967)
(64,012)
(460)

473,444

(40,325)

(106,355)
28,166
16,612

(4,051)

367,491
(67,422)

300,069

2012
HK$'000
TAT

418,951

110,823
28,256
38,046

929
1,196
16

(6,970)
(64,378)
325

527,194
19,367
137,208

(25,101)
2,125

6,788

667,581
(59,761)

607,820
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(For the year ended 31 December 2013) (& ZE2013F12A318IEFE)

INVESTING ACTIVITIES

Deposits paid for acquisition of property, plant and
equipment

Purchase of investment property

Purchase of property, plant and equipment

Loan to a joint venture

Advance to a joint venture

Payment for prepaid lease payments

Deposit paid for land use right

Other deposit paid

Interest received

Proceeds from disposal of property, plant and
equipment

Further capital injection in a joint venture

Government grants received

Increase in other payables

NET CASH USED IN INVESTING ACTIVITIES

FINANCING ACTIVITIES

Bank borrowings raised

Repayment of bank borrowings

Dividends paid

Interest paid

Settlement of derivative financial instruments under
hedge accounting

NET CASH FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES

NET (DECREASE) INCREASE IN CASH AND CASH
EQUIVALENTS

CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AT BEGINNING
OF THE YEAR

EFFECT OF CHANGES IN EXCHANGE RATE

CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AT END OF
THE YEAR
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2013
HK$'000
TET

(377,056)
(48,470)
(569,641)
(18,963)
(9,716)
(60,612)

(2,038)
64,012
160

51,097
143,735

(827,492)

534,510
(330,229)
(123,750)

(42,946)

(5,413)

32,172

(495,251)

1,520,219

36,536

1,061,504

2012
HK$'000
TAT

(437,428)

(71,091)
(54,873)
(6,211)
(72,304)
(5,963)
64,378
7
(19,632)
55,334
1,261

(546,522)

562,195
(146,827)
(165,000)

(33,962)

(4,084)

212,322

273,620

1,233,108

13,491

1,520,219
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
rE SRR MR

(For the year ended 31 December 2013) (EZE2013F12A3181EFE)

GENERAL

The Company is a public limited company incorporated in the
Cayman Islands under the Companies Law (Revised) Chapter 22 of
the Cayman Islands and its shares are listed on The Stock Exchange
of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock Exchange”). Its ultimate holding
company and immediate parent is Fortune Star Tradings Limited
(“Fortune Star”), a company which is incorporated in the British
Virgin Islands. Its ultimate controlling party is Mr. Lee Wan Keung.
The address of the registered office of the Company is disclosed in
the section “Corporate Information” to the annual report.

The functional currency of the Company is Renminbi (“RMB"), while
the consolidated financial statements are presented in Hong Kong
dollars ("HK dollars”) as the Company is listed in Hong Kong.

The Company acts as an investment holding company and the
principal activities of its principal subsidiaries are set out in note 35.

APPLICATION OF NEW AND REVISED HONG KONG
FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS (“HKFRSS")

The Group has applied the following new and revised HKFRSs

issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants

("HKICPA") for the first time in the current year:

Amendments to HKFRSs Annual Improvements to HKFRSs
2009-2011 Cycle

Amendments to HKFRS 7 Disclosures — Offsetting Financial
Assets and Financial Liabilities

Consolidated Financial Statements,
Joint Arrangements and
Disclosure of Interests in Other
Entities: Transition Guidance

Amendments to HKFRS 10,
HKFRS 11 and HKFRS 12

HKFRS 10 Consolidated Financial Statements

HKFRS 11 Joint Arrangements

HKFRS 12 Disclosure of Interests in Other
Entities

HKFRS 13 Fair Value Measurement

HKAS 19 (as revised in 2011) Employee Benefits
HKAS 27 (as revised in 2011) Separate Financial Statements

HKAS 28 (as revised in 2011) Investments in Associates and Joint
Ventures

Presentation of Items of Other
Comprehensive Income

Stripping Costs in the Production
Phase of a Surface Mine

Amendments to HKAS 1

HK(IFRIC) — Int 20

35
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APPLICATION OF NEW AND REVISED HONG KONG
FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS (“HKFRSS")
(CONTINUED)

Except as described below, the application of the new and revised
HKFRSs in the current year has had no material impact on the
Group's financial performance and positions for the current and
prior years and/or on the disclosures set out in these consolidated
financial statements.

Amendments to HKFRS 7 Disclosures — Offsetting Financial
Assets and Financial Liabilities

The Group has applied the amendments to HKFRS 7 Disclosures —
Offsetting Financial Assets and Financial Liabilities for the first time
in the current year. The amendments to HKFRS 7 require entities to
disclose information about:

a) recognised financial instruments that are set off in accordance
with HKAS 32 Financial Instruments: Presentation; and

b) recognised financial instruments that are subject to an
enforceable master netting agreement or similar agreement,
irrespective of whether the financial instruments are set off in
accordance with HKAS 32.

The amendments to HKFRS 7 have been applied retrospectively.
The application of the amendments has had no material impact
on the amounts reported in the Group's consolidated financial
statements but has resulted in more disclosures relating to the
Group's structured foreign currency forward contract and interest
rate swaps. Detailed disclosures are set out in note 22.

New and revised Standards on consolidation, joint
arrangements, associates and disclosures

In the current year, the Group has applied for the first time the
package of five standards on consolidation, joint arrangements,
associates and disclosures comprising HKFRS 10 Consolidated
Financial Statements, HKFRS 11 Joint Arrangements, HKFRS 12
Disclosure of Interests in Other Entities, HKAS 27 (as revised in
2011) Separate Financial Statements and HKAS 28 (as revised
in 2011) Investments in Associates and Joint Ventures, together
with the amendments to HKFRS 10, HKFRS 11 and HKFRS 12
regarding transitional guidance. HKAS 27 (as revised in 2011) is
not applicable to the Group as it deals only with separate financial
statements. The impact of the application of these standards is set
out below.
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Impact of the application of HKFRS 11

HKFRS 11 replaces HKAS 31 Interests in Joint Ventures, and
the guidance contained in a related interpretation, HK(SIC) — Int
13 Jointly Controlled Entities — Non-Monetary Contributions by
Venturers, has been incorporated in HKAS 28 (as revised in 2011).
HKFRS 11 deals with how a joint arrangement of which two or
more parties have joint control should be classified and accounted
for. Under HKFRS 11, there are only two types of joint arrangements
— joint operations and joint ventures. The classification of joint
arrangements under HKFRS 11 is determined based on the rights
and obligations of parties to the joint arrangements by considering
the structure, the legal form of the arrangements, the contractual
terms agreed by the parties to the arrangement, and, when
relevant, other facts and circumstances. A joint operation is a joint
arrangement whereby the parties that have joint control of the
arrangement (i.e. joint operators) have rights to the assets, and
obligations for the liabilities, relating to the arrangement. A joint
venture is a joint arrangement whereby the parties that have joint
control of the arrangement (i.e. joint venturers) have rights to the
net assets of the arrangement. Previously, HKAS 31 contemplated
three types of joint arrangements — jointly controlled entities,
jointly controlled operations and jointly controlled assets. The
classification of joint arrangements under HKAS 31 was primarily
determined based on the legal form of the arrangement (e.g. a
joint arrangement that was established through a separate entity
was accounted for as a jointly controlled entity). The initial and
subsequent accounting of joint ventures and joint operations is
different. Investments in joint ventures are accounted for using the
equity method (proportionate consolidation is no longer allowed).
Investments in joint operations are accounted for such that each
joint operator recognises its assets (including its share of any assets
jointly held), its liabilities (including its share of any liabilities incurred
jointly), its revenue (including its share of revenue from the sale of
the output by the joint operation) and its expenses (including its
share of any expenses incurred jointly). Each joint operator accounts
for the assets and liabilities, as well as revenues and expenses,
relating to its interest in the joint operation in accordance with
the applicable Standards. The directors of the Company reviewed
and assessed the classification of the Group's investments in joint
arrangements in accordance with the requirements of HKFRS 11.
The directors concluded that the Group's investments in Southern
Hill Company Limited and E#ARBEEZHR A 7], which were
classified as jointly controlled entities under HKAS 31 should be
classified as joint ventures under HKFRS 11.
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2.

APPLICATION OF NEW AND REVISED HONG KONG
FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS (“HKFRSS")
(CONTINUED)

HKFRS 13 Fair Value Measurement

The Group has applied HKFRS 13 for the first time in the current
year. HKFRS 13 establishes a single source of guidance for, and
disclosures about, fair value measurements. The scope of HKFRS
13 is broad: the fair value measurement requirements of HKFRS
13 apply to both financial instrument items and nonfinancial
instrument items for which other HKFRSs require or permit fair value
measurements and disclosures about fair value measurements,
except for share-based payment transactions that are within the
scope of HKFRS 2 Share-based Payment, leasing transactions that
are within the scope of HKAS 17 Leases, and measurements that
have some similarities to fair value but are not fair value (e.g. net
realisable value for the purposes of measuring inventories or value
in use for impairment assessment purposes). HKFRS 13 defines the
fair value of an asset as the price that would be received to sell an
asset (or paid to transfer a liability, in the case of determining the
fair value of a liability) in an orderly transaction in the principal (or
most advantageous) market at the measurement date under current
market conditions. Fair value under HKFRS 13 is an exit price
regardless of whether that price is directly observable or estimated
using another valuation technique. Also, HKFRS 13 includes
extensive disclosure requirements. HKFRS 13 requires prospective
application. In accordance with the transitional provisions of HKFRS
13, the Group has not made any new disclosures required by
HKFRS 13 for the 2012 comparative period (please see note
16 and 37c for the 2013 disclosures). Other than the additional
disclosures, the application of HKFRS 13 has not had any material
impact on the amounts recognised in the consolidated financial
statements.
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APPLICATION OF NEW AND REVISED HONG KONG
FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS (“HKFRSS")
(CONTINUED)

Amendments to HKAS 1 Presentation of Items of Other
Comprehensive Income

The Group has applied the amendments to HKAS 1 Presentation
of Items of Other Comprehensive Income. Upon the adoption
of the amendments to HKAS 1, the Group's “statement of
comprehensive income” is renamed as the “statement of profit
or loss and other comprehensive income”. Furthermore, the
amendments to HKAS 1 require additional disclosures to be made
in the other comprehensive income section such that items of
other comprehensive income are grouped into two categories: (a)
items that will not be reclassified subsequently to profit or loss and
(b) items that may be reclassified subsequently to profit or loss
when specific conditions are met. Income tax on items of other
comprehensive income is required to be allocated on the same
basis — the amendments do not change the option to present items
of other comprehensive income either before tax or net of tax. The
amendments have been applied retrospectively, and hence the
presentation of items of other comprehensive income has been
modified to reflect the changes. Other than the above mentioned
presentation changes, the application of the amendments to
HKAS 1 does not result in any impact on profit or loss, other
comprehensive income and total comprehensive income.
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APPLICATION OF NEW AND REVISED HONG KONG
FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS (“HKFRSS")

(CONTINUED)

The Company has not early applied the following new and revised
HKFRSs that have been issued but are not yet effective:

Amendments to HKFRSs

Amendments to HKFRSs

HKFRS 9
HKFRS 14

Amendments to HKFRS 9
and HKFRS 7

Amendments to HKFRS 10,
HKFRS 12 and HKAS 27

Amendments to HKAS 19
Amendments to HKAS 32
Amendments to HKAS 36

Amendments to HKAS 39

HK(IFRIC) — Int 21

Annual improvements to HKFRSs
2010-2012 cycle2

Annual improvements to HKFRSs
2011-2013 cycle2

Financial Instruments?
Regulatory Deferral Accounts?

Mandatory Effective Date of HKFRS
9 and Transition Disclosures®

Investment Entities’

Defined Benefit Plans: Employee
Contributions?

Offsetting Financial Assets and
Financial Liabilities’

Recoverable Amount Disclosures
for Non-Financial Assets!

Novation of Derivatives and
Continuation of Hedge
Accounting'

Levies!

! Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2014, with earlier

application permitted.

2 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 July 2014. Early application is
permitted.
3 Available for application — the mandatory effective date will be determined when

the outstanding phases of HKFRS 9 are finalised.
4 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2016.

The directors anticipate that the application of the new and revised
standards will have no material impact on the results and the
financial position of the Company.
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APPLICATION OF NEW AND REVISED HONG KONG
FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS (“HKFRSS")
(CONTINUED)

HKFRS 9 Financial Instruments

HKFRS 9 issued in 2009 introduces new requirements for the
classification and measurement of financial assets. HKFRS 9 was
subsequently amended in 2010 to include the requirements for
the classification and measurement of financial liabilities and for
derecognition, and further amended in 2013 to include the new
requirements for hedge accounting. Key requirements of HKFRS 9
are described as follows:

« Al recognised financial assets that are within the scope of
HKAS 39 Financial Instruments: Recognition and Measurement
are subsequently measured at amortised cost or fair value.
Specifically, debt investments that are held within a business
model whose objective is to collect the contractual cash
flows, and that have contractual cash flows that are solely
payments of principal and interest on the principal outstanding
are generally measured at amortised cost at the end of
subsequent accounting periods. All other debt investments
and equity investments are measured at their fair values at
the end of subsequent reporting periods. In addition, under
HKFRS 9, entities may make an irrevocable election to present
subsequent changes in the fair value of an equity investment
(that is not held for trading) in other comprehensive income,
with only dividend income generally recognised in profit or
loss.

«  With regard to the measurement of financial liabilities
designated as at fair value through profit or loss, HKFRS 9
requires that the amount of change in the fair value of the
financial liability that is attributable to changes in the credit risk
of that liability is presented in other comprehensive income,
unless the recognition of the effects of changes in the liability's
credit risk in other comprehensive income would create or
enlarge an accounting mismatch in profit or loss. Changes in
fair value of financial liabilities attributable to changes in the
financial liabilities credit risk are not subsequently reclassified
to profit or loss. Under HKAS 39, the entire amount of the
change in the fair value of the financial liability designated as
fair value through profit or loss was presented in profit or loss.
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APPLICATION OF NEW AND REVISED HONG KONG
FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS (“HKFRSS")
(CONTINUED)

HKFRS 9 Financial Instruments (Continued)

The new general hedge accounting requirements retain the three
types of hedge accounting. However, greater flexibility has been
introduced to the types of transactions eligible for hedge accounting,
specifically broadening the types of instruments that qualify for
hedging instruments and the types of risk components of non-
financial items that are eligible for hedge accounting. In addition,
the effectiveness test has been overhauled and replaced with the
principle of an ‘economic relationship’. Retrospective assessment of
hedge effectiveness is also no longer required. Enhanced disclosure
requirements about an entity's risk management activities have also
been introduced.

The directors anticipate that the adoption of HKFRS 9 in the future
may have a significant impact on the amounts reported in respect
of the Group's financial assets and financial liabilities. Regarding the
Group's financial assets, it is not practicable to provide a reasonable
estimate of that effect until a detailed review has been completed.

Amendments to HKAS 32 Offsetting Financial Assets and
Financial Liabilities

The amendments to HKAS 32 clarify existing application issues
relating to the offset of financial assets and financial liabilities
requirements. Specifically, the amendments clarify the meaning of
‘currently has a legally enforceable right of set-off' and ‘simultaneous
realisation and settlement'. The directors of the Company do not
anticipate that the application of these amendments to HKAS 32
will have a significant impact on the Group's consolidated financial
statements as the Group does not have significant financial assets
and financial liabilities for offset.
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The consolidated financial statements have been prepared in
accordance with Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards issued
by the HKICPA. In addition, the consolidated financial statements
include applicable disclosures required by the Rules Governing the
Listing of Securities on the Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited
(the “Stock Exchange”) (the “Listing Rules”) and by the Hong Kong
Companies Ordinance.

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared on the
historical cost basis except for certain financial instruments that
are measured at fair values at the end of each reporting period, as
explained in the accounting policies set out below. Historical cost
is generally based on the fair value of the consideration given in
exchange for goods.

Fair value is the price that would be received to sell an asset or
paid to transfer a liability in an orderly transaction between market
participants at the measurement date, regardless of whether that
price is directly observable or estimated using another valuation
technique. In estimating the fair value of an asset or a liability,
the Group takes into account the characteristics of the asset or
liability if market participants would take those characteristics into
account when pricing the asset or liability at the measurement date.
Fair value for measurement and/or disclosure purposes in these
consolidated financial statements is determined on such a basis,
except for share-based payment transactions that are within the
scope of HKFRS 2, leasing transactions that are within the scope
of HKAS 17, and measurements that have some similarities to fair
value but are not fair value, such as net realisable value in HKAS
2 or value in use in HKAS 36. In addition, for financial reporting
purposes, fair value measurements are categorised into Level 1,
2 or 3 based on the degree to which the inputs to the fair value
measurements are observable and the significance of the inputs to
the fair value measurement in its entirety, which are described as
follows:

«  Level 1 inputs are quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets
for identical assets or liabilities that the entity can access at the
measurement date;

«  Level 2 inputs are inputs, other than quoted prices included
within Level 1, that are observable for the asset or liability,

either directly or indirectly; and

«  Level 3 inputs are unobservable inputs for the asset or liability.

The principal accounting policies are set out below.
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LEE & MAN CHEMICAL COMPANY LIMITED ¥EX{t THRA A

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

N

(For the year ended 31 December 2013)

3.
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(BZE2013F12A31BILFE)

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)
Basis of consolidation

The consolidated financial statements incorporate the financial
statements of the Company and entities controlled by the Company
and its subsidiaries. Control is achieved where the Company:

«  has power over the investee;

. is exposed, or has rights, to variable returns from its
involvement with the investee; and

«  has the ability to use its power to affect its returns.

The Group reassesses whether or not it controls an investee if facts
and circumstances indicate that there are changes to one or more
of the three elements of control listed above.

Consolidation of a subsidiary begins when the Group obtains control
over the subsidiary and ceases when the Group loses control of
the subsidiary. Specifically, income and expenses of subsidiaries
acquired or disposed of during the year are included in the
consolidated statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive
income from the date the Group gains control until the date when
the Group ceases to control the subsidiary.

Where necessary, adjustments are made to the financial statements
of subsidiaries to bring their accounting policies in line with the
Group's accounting policies.

All intra-group assets and liabilities, equity, income, expenses and

cash flows relating to transactions between members of the Group
are eliminated in full on consolidation.
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Investments in jointly ventures

A joint venture is a joint arrangement whereby the parties that have
joint control of the arrangement have rights to the net assets of the
joint arrangement. Joint control is the contractually agreed sharing of
control of an arrangement, which exists only when decisions about
the relevant activities require unanimous consent of the parties
sharing control.

The results and assets and liabilities of joint ventures are
incorporated in these consolidated financial statements using
the equity method of accounting. The financial statements of
joint ventures used for equity accounting purposes are prepared
using uniform accounting policies as those of the Group for like
transactions and events in similar circumstances. Under the equity
method, an investment in a joint venture is initially recognised in
the consolidated statement of financial position at cost and adjusted
thereafter to recognise the Group's share of the profit or loss and
other comprehensive income of the joint venture. When the Group's
share of losses of a joint venture exceeds the Group's interest in
that joint venture (which includes any long-term interests that, in
substance, form part of the Group's net investment in joint venture),
the Group discontinues recognizing its share of further losses.
Additional losses are recognised only to the extent that the Group
has incurred legal or constructive obligations or made payments
on behalf of the joint venture. An investment in a joint venture is
accounted for using the equity method from the date on which the
investee becomes a joint venture. On acquisition of the investment
in a joint venture, any excess of the cost of the investment over
the Group's share of the net fair value of the identifiable assets
and liabilities of the investee is recognised as goodwill, which is
included within the carrying amount of the investment. Any excess
of the Group's share of the net fair value of the identifiable assets
and liabilities over the cost of the investment, after reassessment, is
recognised immediately in profit or loss in the period in which the
investment is acquired.
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LEE & MAN CHEMICAL COMPANY LIMITED ¥EX{t THRA A

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
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(For the year ended 31 December 2013) (& ZE2013F12A318IEFE)

3.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)
Investments in jointly ventures (Continued)

The requirements of HKAS 39 are applied to determine whether it
is necessary to recognise any impairment loss with respect to the
Group's investment in a joint venture. When necessary, the entire
carrying amount of the investment (including goodwill) is tested for
impairment in accordance with HKAS 36 Impairment of Assets as a
single asset by comparing its recoverable amount (higher of value
in use and fair value less costs of disposal) with its carrying amount.
Any impairment loss recognised forms part of the carrying amount
of the investment. Any reversal of that impairment loss is recognised
in accordance with HKAS 36 to the extent that the recoverable
amount of the investment subsequently increases.

The Group discontinues the use of the equity method from the
date when the investment ceases to be a joint venture, or when
the investment (or a portion thereof) is classified as held for sale.
When the Group retains an interest in the former joint venture
and the retained interest is a financial asset, the Group measures
the retained interest at fair value at that date and the fair value is
regarded as its fair value on initial recognition in accordance with
HKAS 39. The difference between the carrying amount of the joint
venture at the date the equity method was discontinued, and the
fair value of any retained interest and any proceeds from disposing
of a part interest in the joint venture is included in the determination
of the gain or loss on disposal of the joint venture. In addition, the
Group accounts for all amounts previously recognised in other
comprehensive income in relation to that joint venture on the
same basis as would be required if that joint venture had directly
disposed of the related assets or liabilities. Therefore, if a gain or
loss previously recognised in other comprehensive income by that
joint venture would be reclassified to profit or loss on the disposal
of the related assets or liabilities, the Group reclassifies the gain or
loss from equity to profit or loss (as a reclassification adjustment)
when the equity method is discontinued.

When a group entity transacts with a joint venture of the Group (such
as a sale or contribution of assets), profits and losses resulting from
the transactions with the joint venture are recognised in the Group's
consolidated financial statements only to the extent of interests in
the joint venture that are not related to the Group.
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Revenue recognition

Revenue is measured at the fair value of the consideration received
or receivable. Revenue is reduced for estimated customer returns,
rebates and other similar allowances.

Revenue from the sales of goods is recognised when the goods
are delivered and titles have passed, at which time all the following
conditions are satisfied:

«  the Group has transferred to the buyer the significant risks and
rewards of ownership of the goods;

«  the Group retains neither continuing managerial involvement
to the degree usually associated with ownership nor effective
control over the goods sold;

«  the amount of revenue can be measured reliably;

« it is probable that the economic benefits associated with the
transaction will flow to the Group; and

« the costs incurred or to be incurred in respect of the
transaction can be measured reliably.

Deposits and instalments received from purchasers prior to meeting
the above criteria for revenue recognition are included in the
consolidated statement of financial position under current liabilities.

Interest income from a financial asset is recognised when it is
probable that the economic benefits will flow to the Group and the
amount of income can be measured reliably. Interest income is
accrued on a time basis, by reference to the principal outstanding
and at the effective interest rate applicable, which is the rate that
exactly discounts the estimated future cash receipts through the
expected life of the financial asset to that asset's net carrying
amount on initial recognition.
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(For the year ended 31 December 2013)

3.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)
Property, plant and equipment

Property, plant and equipment, including buildings held for use in
the production of goods or for administrative purposes (other than
construction in progress) are stated in the consolidated statement of
financial position at cost less subsequent accumulated depreciation
and subsequent accumulated impairment losses, if any.

Properties, plant and machinery in the course of construction for
production or administrative purposes are carried at cost, less any
recognised impairment loss. Costs include professional fees and,
for qualifying assets, borrowing costs capitalised in accordance
with the Group's accounting policy. Such assets are classified to
the appropriate categories of property, plant and equipment when
completed and ready for intended use. Depreciation of these assets,
on the same basis as other assets, commences when the assets are
ready for their intended use.

Depreciation is recognised so as to write off the cost of assets other
than construction in progress less their residual values over their
estimated useful lives, using the straight-line method. The estimated
useful lives, residual values and depreciation method are reviewed
at the end of each reporting period, with the effect of any changes
in estimate accounted for on a prospective basis.

An item of property, plant and equipment is derecognised upon
disposal or when no future economic benefits are expected to arise
from the continued use of the asset. Any gain or loss arising on the
disposal or retirement of an item of property, plant and equipment is
determined as the difference between the sales proceeds and the
carrying amount of the asset and is recognised in profit or loss.

Leasing

Leases are classified as finance leases whenever the terms of the
lease transfer substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership to
the lessee. All other leases are classified as operating leases.

The Group as lessee

Operating lease payments are recognised as an expense on a
straight-line basis over the lease term.

In the event that lease incentives are received to enter into
operating leases, such incentives are recognised as a liability. The
aggregate benefit of incentives is recognised as a reduction of rental
expense on a straight-line basis.
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Leasing (Continued)
Leasehold land and building

When a lease includes both land and building elements, the Group
assesses the classification of each element as a finance or an
operating lease separately based on the assessment as to whether
substantially all the risks and rewards incidental to ownership of
each element have been transferred to the Group, unless it is clear
that both elements are operating leases in which case the entire
lease is classified as an operating lease. Specifically, the minimum
lease payments (including any lump-sum upfront payments) are
allocated between the land and the building elements in proportion
to the relative fair values of the leasehold interests in the land
element and building element of the lease at the inception of the
lease.

To the extent the allocation of the lease payments can be made
reliably, interest in leasehold land that is accounted for as an
operating lease is presented as “prepaid lease payments” in the
consolidated statement of financial position and is amortised over
the lease term on a straight-line basis. When the lease payments
cannot be allocated reliably between the land and building
elements, the entire lease is generally classified as a finance lease
and accounted for as property, plant and equipment.

Investment property

Investment properties are properties held to earn rentals and/or
for capital appreciation (including properties under construction
for such purposes). Investment properties include land held for
undetermined future use, which is regarded as held for capital
appreciation purpose.

Investment properties are initially measured at cost, including any
directly attributable expenditure. Subsequent to initial recognition,
investment properties are stated at cost less any accumulated
impairment losses. Depreciation is recognised so as to write off the
cost of investment properties over their estimated useful lives and
after taking into account of their estimated residual value, using the
straight-line method. Construction costs incurred for investment
properties under construction are capitalised as part of the carrying
amount of the investment properties under construction.
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3.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)
Leasing (Continued)
Investment property (Continued)

An investment property is derecognised upon disposal or when
the investment property is permanently withdrawn from use and
no future economic benefits are expected from its disposals. Any
gain or loss arising on derecognition of the property (calculated as
the difference between the net disposal proceeds and the carrying
amount of the asset) is included in the profit or loss in the period in
which the property is derecognised.

Intangible assets
Intangible assets acquired separately

Intangible assets with finite useful lives that are acquired separately
are carried at costs less accumulated amortisation and any
accumulated impairment losses. Amortisation for intangible assets
with finite useful lives is recognised on a straight-line basis over their
estimated useful lives. The estimated useful life and amortisation
method are reviewed at the end of each reporting period, with
the effect of any changes in estimate being accounted for on a
prospective basis.

An intangible asset is derecognised on disposal, or when no future
economic benefits are expected from use or disposal. Gains and
losses arising from derecognition of an intangible asset, measured as
the difference between the net disposal proceeds and the carrying
amount of the asset, are recognised in profit or loss when the asset is
derecognised.

Inventories

Inventories are stated at the lower of cost and net realisable
value. Costs of inventories are determined on a first-in, first-out
method. Net realisable value represents the estimated selling price
for inventories less all estimated costs of completion and costs
necessary to make the sale.

Retirement benefit costs

Payments to state-managed retirement benefit schemes and the
Mandatory Provident Fund Scheme (the “MPF scheme”), which
are defined contribution plans, are recognised as an expense
when employees have rendered service entitling them to the
contributions.
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Foreign currencies

In preparing the financial statements of each individual group entity,
transactions in currencies other than the functional currency of that
entity (foreign currencies) are recognised at the rates of exchanges
prevailing on the dates of the transactions. At the end of the
reporting period, monetary items denominated in foreign currencies
are retranslated at the rates prevailing at that date. Non-monetary
items carried at fair value that are denominated in foreign currencies
are retranslated at the rates prevailing on the date when the fair
value was determined. Non-monetary items that are measured in
terms of historical cost in a foreign currency are not retranslated.

Exchange differences on monetary items are recognised in profit or
loss in the period in which they arise except for:

+  exchange differences on foreign currency borrowings relating
to assets under construction for future productive use, which
are included in the cost of those assets when they are
regarded as an adjustment to interest costs on those foreign
currency borrowings;

«  exchange differences on transactions entered into in order
to hedge certain foreign currency risks (see the accounting
policies below); and

«  exchange differences on monetary items receivable from or
payable to a foreign operation for which settlement is neither
planned nor likely to occur (therefore forming part of the net
investment in the foreign operation), which are recognised
initially in other comprehensive income and reclassified from
equity to profit or loss on repayment of the monetary items.

For the purposes of presenting the consolidated financial
statements, the assets and liabilities of the Group's foreign operation
are translated into the presentation currency of the Group (i.e.
Hong Kong dollars) using exchange rates prevailing at the end of
each reporting period. Income and expenses items are translated
at the average exchange rates for the year, unless exchange rates
fluctuate significantly during the period, in which case, the exchange
rates prevailing at the dates of transactions are used. Exchange
differences arising, if any, are recognised in other comprehensive
income and accumulated in equity under the heading of translation
reserve.
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3.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)
Foreign currencies (Continued)

On the disposal of a foreign operation (i.e. a disposal of the Group's
entire interest in a foreign operation, or a disposal involving loss
of control over a subsidiary that includes a foreign operation, or a
partial disposal of an interest in a joint arrangement that includes a
foreign operation of which the retained interest becomes a financial
asset), all of the exchange differences accumulated in equity in
respect of that operation attributable to the owners of the Company
are reclassified to profit or loss.

In addition, in relation to a partial disposal of a subsidiary that
does not result in the Group losing control over the subsidiary, the
proportionate share of accumulated exchange differences are re-
attributed to non-controlling interests and are not recognised in
profit or loss. For all other partial disposals (i.e. partial disposals
of joint arrangements that do not result in the Group losing joint
control), the proportionate share of the accumulated exchange
differences is reclassified to profit or loss.

Borrowing costs

Borrowing costs directly attributable to the acquisition, construction
or production of qualifying assets, which are assets that necessarily
take a substantial period of time to get ready for their intended
use or sale, are added to the cost of those assets until such time
as the assets are substantially ready for their intended use or
sale. Investment income earned on the temporary investment of
specific borrowings pending their expenditure on qualifying assets is
deducted from the borrowing costs eligible for capitalisation.

All other borrowing costs are recognised in profit or loss in the
period in which they are incurred.
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Government grants

Government grants are not recognised until there is reasonable
assurance that the Group will comply with the conditions attaching
to them and that the grants will be received.

Government grants are recognised in profit or loss on a systematic
basis over the periods in which the Group recognises as expenses
the related costs for which the grants are intended to compensate.
Specifically, government grants whose primary condition is that the
Group should purchase, construct or otherwise acquire non-current
assets are recognised as a deduction from the carrying amount of
the relevant asset in the consolidated statement of financial position
and transferred to profit or loss on a systematic and rational basis
over the useful lives of the related assets.

Government grants that are receivable as compensation for
expenses or losses already incurred or for the purpose of giving
immediate financial support to the Group with no future related
costs are recognised in profit or loss in the period in which they
become receivable.

Taxation

Income tax expense represents the sum of the tax currently payable
and deferred tax.

The tax currently payable is based on taxable profit for the year.
Taxable profit differs from profit before tax as reported in the
consolidated statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive
income because of income or expense that are taxable or
deductible in other years and items that are never taxable or
deductible. The Group's liability for current tax is calculated using tax
rates that have been enacted or substantively enacted by the end of
the reporting period.
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LEE & MAN CHEMICAL COMPANY LIMITED ¥EX{t THRA A

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
e TSR ER MR

(For the year ended 31 December 2013) (& ZE2013F12A318IEFE)

3.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)
Taxation (Continued)

Deferred tax is recognised on temporary differences between the
carrying amounts of assets and liabilities in the consolidated financial
statements and the corresponding tax base used in the computation
of taxable profit. Deferred tax liabilities are generally recognised for
all taxable temporary differences. Deferred tax assets are generally
recognised for all deductible temporary differences to the extent
that it is probable that taxable profits will be available against which
those deductible temporary differences can be utilised. Such assets
and liabilities are not recognised if the temporary difference arises
from goodwill or from the initial recognition of other assets and
liabilities in a transaction that affects neither the taxable profit nor
the accounting profit.

Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for taxable temporary
differences associated with investments in subsidiaries and interest
in a joint arrangements, except where the Group is able to control
the reversal of the temporary difference and it is probable that the
temporary difference will not reverse in the foreseeable future.
Deferred tax assets arising from deductible temporary differences
associated with such investments and interest are only recognised
to the extent that it is probable that there will be sufficient taxable
profits against which to utilise the benefits of the temporary
differences and they are expected to reverse in the foreseeable
future.

The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed at the end
of the reporting period and reduced to the extent that it is no longer
probable that sufficient taxable profits will be available to allow all or
part of the asset to be recovered.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured at the tax rates that
are expected to apply in the period in which the liability is settled
or the asset is realised, based on tax rate (and tax laws) that have
been enacted or substantively enacted by the end of the reporting
period.

The measurement of deferred tax liabilities and assets reflects the
tax consequences that would follow from the manner in which the
Group expects, at the end of the reporting period, to recover or
settle the carrying amount of its assets and liabilities.

Current and deferred tax are recognised in profit or loss,
except when they relate to items that are recognised in other
comprehensive income or directly in equity, in which case, the
current and deferred tax are also recognised in other comprehensive
income or directly in equity respectively.
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Share-based payment transactions
Equity-settled share-based payment transactions

The fair value of services received determined by reference to the
fair value of share options granted at the grant date is expensed on
a straight-line basis over the vesting period, with a corresponding
increase in equity (share options reserve). Service and non-market
base performance conditions are not taken in account when
estimating the fair value at measurement date.

Instead, service and non-market base performance conditions are
taken in consideration to determine the number of share options
that are expected to ultimately vest.

At the end of the reporting period, the Group revises its estimates
of the number of options that are expected to ultimately vest. The
impact of the revision of the original estimates, if any, is recognised
in profit or loss such that the cumulative expense reflects the
revised estimate, with a corresponding adjustment to share options
reserve.

When the share options are exercised, the amount previously
recognised in share options reserve will be transferred to share
premium. When the share options are forfeited after the vesting
date or are still not exercised at the expiry date, the amount
previously recognised in share options reserve will be transferred to
accumulated profits.

Financial instruments

Financial assets and financial liabilities are recognised when a
group entity becomes a party to the contractual provisions of the
instrument.

Financial assets and financial liabilities are initially measured at
fair value. Transaction costs that are directly attributable to the
acquisition or issue of financial assets and financial liabilities (other
than financial assets or financial liabilities at fair value through profit
or loss ("FVTPL")) are added to or deducted from the fair value of
the financial assets or financial liabilities, as appropriate, on initial
recognition. Transaction costs directly attributable to the acquisition
of financial assets or financial liabilities at FVTPL are recognised
immediately in profit or loss.
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LEE & MAN CHEMICAL COMPANY LIMITED ¥EX{t THRA A

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
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(For the year ended 31 December 2013) (& ZE2013F12A318IEFE)

3.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)
Financial instruments (Continued)
Financial assets

Financial assets are classified into the following specified categories:
loans and receivables and financial assets at FVTPL. The classification
depends on the nature and purpose of the financial assets and is
determined at the time of initial recognition.

Effective interest method

The effective interest method is a method of calculating the
amortised cost of a debt instrument and of allocating interest
income over the relevant period. The effective interest rate is the
rate that exactly discounts estimated future cash receipts (including
all fees paid or received that form an integral part of the effective
interest rate, transaction costs and other premiums or discounts)
through the expected life of the debt instrument, or, where
appropriate, a shorter period to the net carrying amount on initial
recognition.

Interest income is recognised on an effective interest basis for debt
instruments.

Loans and receivables

Loans and receivables are non-derivative financial assets with fixed
or determinable payments that are not quoted in an active market.
Subsequent to initial recognition, loans and receivables (including
trade and other receivables, loan to a joint venture, amount due
from a joint venture and bank balances and cash) are measured
at amortised cost using the effective interest method, less any
identified impairment (see accounting policy on impairment loss on
financial assets below).

Financial assets at fair value through profit loss
Financial assets classified as at FVTPL when the financial asset is

either held for trading or it is designated as at FVTPL.

Financial assets at FVTPL are stated at fair value, with any gains or
losses arising on remeasurement recognised in profit or loss.
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Financial instruments (Continued)
Financial assets (Continued)
Impairment of financial assets

Financial assets, other than those at FVTPL, are assessed for
indicators of impairment at the end of each reporting period.
Financial assets are considered to be impaired when there is
objective evidence that, as a result of one or more events that
occurred after the initial recognition of the financial asset, the
estimated future cash flows of the financial assets have been
affected.

For loans and receivables, objective evidence of impairment could
include:

«  significant financial difficulty of the issuer or counterparty; or

«  breach of contract, such as a default or delinquency in interest
and principal payments; or

« it becoming probable that the borrower will enter bankruptcy
or financial re-organisation.

For certain categories of financial asset, such as trade receivables,
assets that are assessed not to be impaired individually are, in
addition, assessed for impairment on a collective basis. Objective
evidence of impairment for a portfolio of receivables could include
the Group's past experience of collecting payments, an increase in
the number of delayed payments in the portfolio past the credit
period ranged 7 to 60 days and observable changes in national or
local economic conditions that correlate with default on receivables.

For financial assets carried at amortised cost, the amount of the
impairment loss recognised is the difference between the asset's
carrying amount and the present value of the estimated future cash
flows discounted at the financial asset's original effective interest
rate.

The carrying amount of the financial asset is reduced by the
impairment loss directly for all loans and receivables with the
exception of trade receivables, where the carrying amount is
reduced through the use of an allowance account. Changes in the
carrying amount of the allowance account are recognised in profit
or loss. When a trade receivable is considered uncollectible, it is
written off against the allowance account. Subsequent recoveries of
amounts previously written off are credited to profit or loss.
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(For the year ended 31 December 2013) (& ZE2013F12A318IEFE)

3.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)
Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial assets (Continued)

Impairment of financial assets (Continued)

For financial assets measured at amortised cost, if, in a subsequent
period, the amount of the impairment loss decreases and the
decrease can be related objectively to an event occurring after the
impairment was recognised, the previously recognised impairment
loss is reversed through profit or loss to the extent that the carrying
amount of the investment at the date the impairment is reversed
does not exceed what the amortised cost would have been had the
impairment not been recognised.

Financial liabilities and equity instruments

Debt and equity instruments issued by a group entity are classified
as either financial liabilities or as equity in accordance with the
substance of the contractual arrangements and the definitions of a
financial liability and an equity instrument.

Equity instruments

An equity instrument is any contract that evidences a residual
interest in the assets of the Group after deducting all of its liabilities.
Equity instruments issued by the Company are recognised at the
proceeds received, net of direct issue costs.

Effective interest method

The effective interest method is a method of calculating the
amortised cost of a financial liability and of allocating interest
expense over the relevant period. The effective interest rate is the
rate that exactly discounts estimated future cash payments (including
all fees paid or received that form an integral part of the effective
interest rate, transaction costs and other premiums or discounts)
through the expected life of the financial liability, or, where
appropriate, a shorter period, to the net carrying amount on initial
recognition.

Interest expense is recognised on an effective interest basis other

than those financial liabilities at FVTPL, of which the interest expense
is included in net gains or losses.
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Financial instruments (Continued)
Financial liabilities and equity instruments (Continued)
Financial liabilities at FVTPL

Financial liabilities are classified as at FVTPL when the financial
liabilities are derivatives that are not designated and effective as a
hedging instrument.

Financial liabilities at FVTPL are measured at fair value, with any
gains or losses arising on remeasurement recognised in profit or
loss.

Other financial liabilities

Other financial liabilities including trade and other payables, amount
due to a related company and bank borrowings are subsequently
measured at amortised cost, using the effective interest method.

Derivative financial instruments and hedging

Derivatives are initially recognised at fair value at the date when
derivative contracts are entered into and are subsequently
remeasured to their fair value at the end of the reporting period.
The resulting gain or loss is recognised in profit or loss immediately
unless the derivative is designated and effective as a hedging
instrument, in which case the timing of the recognition in profit or
loss depends on the nature of the hedge relationship.

Hedge accounting

The Group designates certain derivatives as hedging instruments for
cash flow hedges.

At the inception of the hedging relationship the Group documents
the relationship between the hedging instrument and hedged
item, along with its risk management objectives and its strategy
for undertaking various hedge transactions. Furthermore, at the
inception of the hedge and on an ongoing basis, the Group
documents whether the hedging instrument is highly effective in
offsetting changes in cash flows of the hedged item attributable to
the hedged risk.
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3.
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(BZE2013F12A31BILFE)

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)
Financial instruments (Continued)

Derivative financial instruments and hedging (Continued)
Cash flow hedge

The effective portion of changes in the fair value of derivatives that
are designated and qualify as cash flow hedges are recognised in
other comprehensive income and accumulated under the heading
of hedging reserve. The gain or loss relating to the ineffective
portion is recognised immediately in profit or loss.

Amounts previously recognised in other comprehensive income and
accumulated in equity (hedging reserve) are reclassified to profit or
loss in the periods when the hedged item is recognised in profit or
loss, in the same line of the consolidated statement of profit or loss
and other comprehensive income as the recognised hedged item.

Hedge accounting is discontinued when the Group revokes the
hedging relationship, the hedging instrument expires or is sold,
terminated, or exercised, or when it no longer qualifies for hedge
accounting. Any gain or loss recognised in other comprehensive
income and accumulated in hedging reserve at that time remains in
equity and is recognised when the forecast transaction is ultimately
recognised in profit or loss. When a forecast transaction is no
longer expected to occur, the gain or loss accumulated in equity is
recognised immediately in profit or loss.

Derecognition

The Group derecognises a financial asset only when the contractual
rights to the cash flows from the asset expire.

On derecognition of a financial asset, the difference between the
asset's carrying amount and the sum of the consideration received
and receivable and the cumulative gain or loss that had been
recognised in other comprehensive income and accumulated in
equity is recognised in profit or loss.

The Group derecognises financial liabilities when, and only when,
the Group’s obligations are discharged, cancelled or expire. The
difference between the carrying amount of the financial liability
derecognised and the consideration paid and payable is recognised
in profit or loss.
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Impairment losses on tangible and intangible assets

At the end of the reporting period, the Group reviews the carrying
amounts of its tangible and intangible assets with finite useful lives
to determine whether there is any indication that those assets
have suffered an impairment loss. If any such indication exists, the
recoverable amount of the asset is estimated in order to determine
the extent of the impairment loss, if any. When it is not possible to
estimate the recoverable amount of an individual asset, the Group
estimates the recoverable amount of the cash-generating unit to
which the asset belongs. When a reasonable and consistent basis
of allocation can be identified, corporate assets are also allocated to
individual cash-generating units, or otherwise they are allocated to
the smallest group of cash-generating units for which a reasonable
and consistent allocation basis can be identified.

Recoverable amount is the higher of fair value less costs of disposal
and value in use. In assessing value in use, the estimated future
cash flows are discounted to their present value using a pre-tax
discount rate that reflects current market assessments of the time
value of money and the risks specific to the asset for which the
estimates of future cash flows have not been adjusted.

If the recoverable amount of an asset (or a cash-generating unit) is
estimated to be less than its carrying amount, the carrying amount
of the asset (or a cash-generating unit) is reduced to its recoverable
amount. An impairment loss is recognised immediately in profit or
loss.

Where an impairment loss subsequently reverses, the carrying
amount of the asset (or cash-generating unit) is increased to the
revised estimate of its recoverable amount, but so that the increased
carrying amount does not exceed the carrying amount that would
have been determined had no impairment loss been recognised for
the asset (or a cash-generating unit) in prior years. A reversal of an
impairment loss is recognised immediately in profit or loss.

In the application of the Group's accounting policies, which are
described in note 3, the directors of the Company are required to
make various estimates based on past experience and expectations
of the future and other information. The key sources of estimation
uncertainty that can significantly affect the carrying amounts of assets
and liabilities recognised in the consolidated financial statements
within the next financial year are disclosed below.
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4.

(BZE2013F12A31BILFE)

KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION UNCERTAINTY
(CONTINUED)

Impairment loss on trade receivables

The assessment of the impairment loss on trade receivables
of the Group is based on the evaluation of collectability and
aging analysis of accounts and on management's judgment. A
considerable amount of judgement is required in assessing the
ultimate realisation of these receivables, including the current
creditworthiness of each customer. If the financial conditions of the
Group's customers were to deteriorate, resulting in an impairment
of their ability to make payments, additional allowances may be
required. Impairment is made based on the estimation of the
future cash flow discounted at the original effective rate to calculate
the present value. As at 31 December 2013, the carrying value
of trade receivables (net of impairment loss) was approximately
HK$37,324,000 (2012: HK$15,302,000).

Write-down of inventories

Management reviews the inventories listing at the end of each
reporting period, and makes allowance for obsolete and slow-
moving inventory items identified that are no longer suitable for use
in operation. Estimation of net realisable value are based on the
most reliable evidence available at the time the estimates are made,
of the amount the inventories are expected to realise. Where the
net realisable value is less than the cost, a material write down may
arise. As at 31 December 2013, the carrying amount of inventories
(net of allowances) was approximately HK$116,578,000 (2012:
HK$76,253,000).

Income taxes

As at 31 December 2013, a deferred tax asset in relation to unused
tax losses of approximately HK$65,815,000 (2012: approximately
HK$8,379,000) was not recognised in the consolidated statement
of financial position due to the unpredictability of future profit
streams. The realisability of the deferred tax asset mainly depends
on whether sufficient future profits or taxable temporary differences
will be available in the future. In cases where the expectation for
future profit streams changes, a recognition of deferred tax assets
may arise, which would be recognised in profit or loss for the period
in which such a recognition takes place.

62

R TFRERZEERE(Z)

FEUR B 5 5RIR 2 BB R

AEEERE S HREZREBEZ TG
LARTURENE « BREE D IT R EEEHE A
B o HEZ SRR 2 RS EIR AL
NHEBETREHE  RESEPZE
B2 - MAEBEFHBRNBBE
1t - BISSENRREES @ BIEIR B FEINE
& BENZRGTBRASRENUNERR
EBRFIRBRAGTEIRE - R2013512
A318 ' ERE S HIEZREE (R
B E1818 ) 4937,324,000/8 (2012 :
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KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION UNCERTAINTY
(CONTINUED)

Fair value measurements and valuation processes

Some of the Group's assets and liabilities are measured at fair
value for financial reporting purposes. The board of directors of the
Company determines the appropriate valuation techniques and
inputs for fair value measurements.

In estimating the fair value of an asset or a liability, the Group uses
market-observable data to the extent it is available. Where Level
1 inputs are not available, the Group engages third party qualified
valuers to perform the valuation. The directors work closely with
the qualified external valuers to establish the appropriate valuation
techniques and inputs to the model and to understand the cause of
fluctuations in the fair value of the assets and liabilities.

The Group uses valuation techniques that include inputs that are
not based on observable market data to estimate the fair value of
certain types of financial instruments. Notes 16 and 37c provide
detailed information about the valuation techniques, inputs and key
assumptions used in the determination of the fair value of various
assets and liabilities.
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DAHEFERMEERRE
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REVENUE WA
An analysis of the Group's revenue for the year is as follows: AEEFAWADITWOT
2013 2012
HK$'000 HK$'000
BT FHT
Manufacture and sales of chemical products s R EE L TEMR 1,329,131 1,520,512
SEGMENT INFORMATION SEEHE

(a) Operating segments

HKFRS 8 requires operating segments to be identified on
the basis of internal reports about components of the Group
that are regularly reviewed by the chief operating decision
makers (“CODMs"), being the Chairman of the Company, in
order to allocate resources to segments and to assess their
performance. The CODMs review the Group's profit as a
whole, which is generated solely from the manufacture and
sale of chemical products and determined in accordance with
the Group's accounting policies, for performance assessment.
Therefore no separate segment information is prepared by the
Group.

63

(a) BEHE

BREM B REERNFSIHRRELE
DEEARNBREABAARENE
REREDR  MAKBEIREE
REATEREERRALD » BIK
RALFEERRBEAMBRE - LAE
HERDERFEZD BRI - T2
BERRARSAKEENER R
o T ANER 5 F{E 2K B AR E K
EETEMR IRERAKEN S
BRAHE R - B - AKEAL HE
REUTI RN D EEHL



LEE & MAN CHEMICAL COMPANY LIMITED ¥EX{t THRA A

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
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7L A3 == 57

(For the year ended 31 December 2013)

6.

(BZE2013F12A31BILFE)

SEGMENT INFORMATION (CONTINUED)

(b) Geographical information

()

(d)

The Group's operations are located in the PRC. Its non-current
assets, other than loan to a joint venture, are located in the

PRC.

The Group's revenue from external customers by geographical

location of the operations are detailed below:

6.

SWREE(E)

(b) HEER

AEBEFBELEEBUNGE - B
BEEEZERI  SERBEBEEN

PR

AEBEBRANIDES ZWAE

AT

Revenue from
external customers

REPEF KA
2013 2012
HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FA&T
PRC i 1,327,225 1,469,726
India ENE 1,906 -
The United States of America EH - 48,555
Korea EEAEY - 2,231
1,329,131 1,520,512

Revenue from major products

The following is an analysis of the Group's revenue from its

major products:

() FEERBA

AEBENEZERBADNTT

2013 2012

HK$'000 HK$'000

FExT FAT

Caustic soda T 578,503 663,532
Chloromethane products Eab o=t 7) 543,472 576,684
Hydrogen peroxide BEAE 147,584 113,579
Others Hity 59,572 166,717
1,329,131 1,520,512

Information about major customers

No customer contributed over 10% of the total sale of the

Group in both years.
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OTHER INCOME Ht A
2013 2012
HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FHET
Bank interest income IRITFEMA 64,012 64,378
Net exchange gain VR EE N U as 50,625 36,669
Government grants (note) BT Bh (H1at) 37,279 34,980
Scrap sales REmm A 9,137 7,257
Others Hith 16,396 1,346
177,449 144,630

note: The Group recognises these grants as other income upon receipt.

Bret - EENREZ S EAR TIAAR

INCOME TAX EXPENSE FrsiRZH

2013 2012
HK$'000 HK$'000
THET FHTT

The charge comprises: B

Current tax: REAFRIA
PRC Enterprise Income Tax (“EIT") AR TSR 92,383 56,963
Other jurisdiction Hh RE M= 47 51

Deferred tax: RAERIA
Current year REREZEE (26,205) =
66,225 57,014

The Group's major business is in the PRC. Under the Law of the
PRC on EIT and its Implementation Regulation, the tax rate of the
PRC subsidiaries is 25%.

Pursuant to the relevant laws and regulations in the PRC, Jiangsu
L&M (as defined in Note 35) is exempted from PRC income tax for
two years starting from 2008, followed by a 50% reduction for the
next three years. These tax holidays expired in 2012. For the year
2013, Jiangsu L&M was entitled to a reduced EIT rate of 15% as it
has been qualified as a High and New-Tech Enterprise.

Taxation arising in other jurisdiction is calculated at the rate
prevailing in the relevant jurisdiction.
No provision for Hong Kong Profits Tax is made for both years since

there is no assessable profit for both years.
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LEE & MAN CHEMICAL COMPANY LIMITED EI{t THERAE

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
mE SRR MR

(For the year ended 31 December 2013) (#Z=2013F12A318ILFE)

8. INCOME TAX EXPENSE (CONTINUED) 8. FRi/MXZH
The tax charge for the year can be reconciled to the profit before FARBRAT BEGSERREMAZER
tax per the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other SRR ATAIEL RO T

comprehensive income as follows:

2013 2012
HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FHT
Profit before tax BR5 A& A 374,957 418,951
Tax at the domestic income tax rate of 25% R PTG T 2 2500, T I8
(2012: 25%) (2012 : 25%) 93,739 104,738
Tax effect of expenses not deductible in FETE FERR B M N AT HI TR ST HH 2
determining taxable profit Mg e 11,738 19,182
Tax effect of income not taxable in determining 5 7€ & @Rt v 1|5 15 J8 FE R A
taxable profit WAZ R E (11,779) (7914)
Tax effect of tax losses not recognised RERVEEBR NG E 14,359 57
Effect of concessionary rate granted to a PRC R EIMfB AR EEERE 2
subsidiary =7 (41,010) (57,347)
Effect of different tax rate of a subsidiary Hib R AR EER 2
operating in other jurisdiction 2 (822) (1,702)
Income tax expense for the year FRATEHRX H 66,225 57,014
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8.

INCOME TAX EXPENSE (CONTINUED)

At the end of the reporting period, the Group has unutilised tax
losses of two (2012: one) PRC subsidiaries of HK$65,815,000
(2012: HK$8,379,000) available to offset against future profits.
These tax losses will expire at various dates up to and including
2018 (2012: 2017). No deferred tax asset has been recognised on
the tax losses due to the unpredictability of future profit streams.

The following are the major deferred tax assets recognised and
movement thereon during the current and prior reporting period:
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FRSMZH (Z)

PR|EHR - AEBEEEMME (2012 :
—M) P BB AR Z KBNS ESR
65,815,000/ 7T(2012 : 8,379,000/ 7T)
AR R ACE F o REISIBRAFH20184F
(2012 : 20174 ) 2 BIM AR B F@m °
BMRRICHER 2 AT AITER - BURA
MBBIEREFIBEEFHER o

AT AT BEEREENFRNREFH
RIRER R 2B -

Deferred
income

in respect of
subsidy
received for
acquisition of
prepaid lease

payments

B iEEE

FIAZ W

i 4 ER 46 L

ZIRFEYA

HK$'000

FHET

At 1 January 2012 and 31 December 2012 20121 A1H K2012612H31R° -
Credit to profit or loss BEABm= (26,205)
Exchange realignment EL AR (167)
At 31 December 2013 M2013F12A31H (26,372)
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(For the year ended 31 December 2013)

9.

(BZE2013F12A31BILFE)

68

PROFIT FOR THE YEAR 9. FRRF
2013 2012
HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FHET
Profit for the year has been arrived at after FRBEMEHE
charging:
Directors’ emoluments (note 12) EEEHMHEI2) 15,434 38,651
Other staff costs: HBEKA
Salaries and other benefits e REMEN
(excluding directors) (BERIN 82,168 52,765
Retirement benefit schemes contributions RCBFIET B
(excluding directors) (EZBRIN 6,079 3,907
Total staff costs B TR AR 103,681 95,323
Finance costs BERA
Interest on bank borrowings wholly repayable  #|83 HH — AR REERA
within five years EEEE Z IRITER 42,946 33,962
Net adjustment on interest rate swaps EERERREREHZ
designated as cash flow hedges of floating MEREE R A FE
rate debt 5,413 4,084
48,359 38,046
Release of prepaid lease payments TEI A E R IE R 1,790 929
Amortisation of intangible assets B A ERH 1,227 1,196
Auditors’ remuneration IZERED BN & 1,305 1,714
Cost of inventories recognised as expenses BERAT HNTFERA 855,224 998,257
Depreciation of property, plant and equipment  #13 - [BE kK& E2ITE 119,381 110,823
Loss on disposal of property, plant and HEWE - BER
equipment FiEBE 169 16




10. EARNINGS PER SHARE

11.

The calculation of the basic earnings per share is based on the
profit for the year of HK$308,732,000 (2012: HK$361,937,000)
and 825,000,000 (2012: 825,000,000) shares in issue during the

year.

The computation of diluted eamings per share for 2013 did not
assume the exercise of the Company's options because the exercise
price of those options was higher than the average market price for

shares in 2013.

DIVIDENDS
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10. HSREF

EREAXEANTDEFEREF
308,732,000 70 (2012 : 361,937,000
# 7T ) & 825,000,000 % ( 2012 :
825,000,0000% ) {EZT& -

BR2013FERBEZITEESREE
AEHTE - Bt - 2013FSREER
FErERETZITHE AR RIRRE -

Dividends recognised as distributions
during the year:

Final dividend of HK8 cents per share
for the year ended 31 December 2012
Interim dividend of HK7 cents per share
for the year ended 31 December 2013
Final dividend of HK12 cents per share
for the year ended 31 December 2011
Interim dividend of HK8 cents per share
for the year ended 31 December 2012

A final dividend of HK7 cents (2012: HK8 cents) per share
amounting to HK$57,750,000 (2012: HK$66,000,000) in respect
of the year ended 31 December 2013 has been proposed by the
directors and is subject to approval by the shareholders in annual

general meeting.

11. &R
2013 2012
HK$'000 HK$'000
FHT FH&TT
FRNEERDRZES
HE2012F12A31HILFE
REARE B =8B 66,000 =
HE2013F12A31HILEE
AR ERRS B 78 57,750 =
HE2011E 128310 ILEE
REARR B 281U - 99,000
HE2012% 128318 ILEE
R ERRS B RS - 66,000
123,750 165,000

EECEBRIKBEEZ=2013F12A31H
IEFEE 2 REBRBFR7E (2012 :
87 1l ) # 57,750,000 7t (2012 :
66,000,000/ 7T) * HEARFREREBEF K
e EHbE -
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(For the year ended 31 December 2013) (EZE2013F12A318IEFE)

12. DIRECTORS’ EMOLUMENTS 12. EFM&
The emoluments paid or payable to each of the 7 (2012: 7) BN F762(2012 @ 767)E S 2 B
directors were as follows: ST
Other emoluments
Aft#e
Share-based
Contributions performance
Salaries to retirement related Discretionary
and other benefit incentive bonus
benefits schemes I35  payments
Fees HER BINER  ER2RE Rt %RHR Total
ik EftER HE 55 RRKE HE%S ait
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TER TER TERL TERL TERL TERL
Year ended 31.12.2013 BEWIBFNANALEE
Executive directors HITEE
Wai Siu Kee Eon 960 1,200 - - 3,000 5,160
Lee Man Yan E5¢ 960 1,214 - 6,000 - 8,174
Yang Zuo Ning BIEE - 945 - - - 945
Wong Yuet Ming TA#H - 780 15 - - 795
Independent non-executive directors BV #5177E %
Wong Kai Tung, Tony TRE 120 - - - - 120
Wan Chi Keung, Aaron JP it 120 - - - - 120
Heng Victor Ja Wei TRx 120 - - - - 120
2,260 4,139 15 6,000 3,000 15,434
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12. DIRECTORS’ EMOLUMENTS (CONTINUED)
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12. EEM&(E)

Other emoluments
e
Share-based
Contributions  performance
Salaries  to retirement related  Discretionary
and other benefit incentive bonus
benefits schemes MRH & payments
Fees Fek RICEN AR ZIEE EfRHR Total
we EftEM IR FRRE BERe CE
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TAL TAL TAT TAT TAT TAT
Year ended 31.12.2012 BEW0NFNA3IALEE
Executive directors HITEE
Wai Siu Kee % 960 1,200 - - 4,000 6,160
Lee Man Yan FXR 960 1,184 = 28,256 = 30,400
Yang Zuo Ning BIEE - 937 - - - 937
Wong Yuet Ming TAH - 780 14 - - 794
Independent non-executive directors BV F5177E %
Wong Kai Tung, Tony IR 120 - - - - 120
Wan Chi Keung, Aaron JP ftc 120 - - - - 120
Heng Victor Ja Wei PR 120 - - - - 120
2,280 4101 14 28,256 4,000 38,651

note: The share-based performance related incentive was determined in recognition

of the director's outstanding performance in development and management

of the chemical products business which has contributed a significant growth

in the Group's profit and as an incentive for his continuing commitment and

contribution to the Group in future. Other performance related incentive

payments were determined with regards to individual performance. No directors
waived any emoluments in both years.
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(For the year ended 31 December 2013) (#Z=2013F12A318ILFE)

13. EMPLOYEES' EMOLUMENTS 13. EEE&
Of the five individuals with the highest emoluments in the Group, EAREESNERHFMZALTHR @ 813
three (2012: three) were directors of the Company whose (2012 : 36) A REIES - HEFME
emoluments are disclosed in note 12 above. The emoluments of R EXBEE12 o MESR267(2012 5 2
the remaining two (2012: two) individuals were as follows: i)z BenT

2013 2012
HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FHT
Salaries and other benefits e RAEMmBER 1,895 1,768
Contributions to retirement benefits schemes — 3R{REFFT R K 15 10
1,910 1,778

The emoluments were within the following band: e FTIEE :
2013 2012
Number of Number of
employees employees
EEHE EE&H
Not exceeding HK$1,000,000 381,000,000/ 7T 1 2
HK$1,000,001 to HK$ 1,500,000 1,000,001 T2 1,500,000/ 7T 1 -
2 2
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14. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT
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14. B3 - WE R Xl

Furniture
fixtures and
equipment Motor Plantand  Construction
Buildings % %E vehicles  machinery in progress Total
BF Rkt RE  BRERER TEIR At
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
AL AL AL AL AL TAL
cost S
At 1 January 2012 R201261A18 55795 3459 3591 1328650 960 1,392,455
Exchange realignment e 694 48 140 16,639 135 17,656
Additions HE = 1518 6,676 7463 304,185 319,842
Disposals e - (129) - @31 - (160)
Transfer B8R 75 - - 4797 (4872) -
At 31 Decernber 2012 120124128318 56,564 4,89 10407 1357518 300408 1729793
Exchange realignment ERHE 2,798 171 N 37,657 14,167 55,104
Additions BE 1 2456 1,632 22,849 953,959 980,907
Disposals e - (154) (1317) (359) - (1,830)
Transfer B8R 204872 4180 1,364 451,100 (661516) -
At31 December 2013 #20135128318 264245 11,549 12397 1868765 607018 2763974
DEPRECIATION i ]
At 1 January 2012 R20124181R 7,69 1407 1631 257,183 - 267920
Provided for the year AERR 2529 609 968 106717 - 110,823
Exchange realignment ENIE 127 23 29 4515 - 4,694
Elimination on disposal R - (109) - (28) - (137)
At 31 December 2012 120126128318 10,355 1930 2628 368,387 - 383,300
Provided for the year AERR 3370 869 1,931 113211 - 119381
Exchange realignment ERE% 297 57 86 10,784 - 11,224
Elimination on disposal HER L = (138) (1,185) (178) = (1,501)
At 31 December 2013 120135128318 14022 2718 3,460 492,204 - 512404
CARRYING VALUE R
At 31 December 2013 #2013F12/318 250,223 8,831 8937 1,376,561 607,018 2251570
At 31 December 2012 20124128318 46,209 2,966 7,779 989,131 300408 1346493
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14. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT (CONTINUED)

15.

The above items of property, plant and equipment are depreciated
on a straight-line basis at the following rates per annum:

Buildings 5%
Furniture, fixtures and equipment 20%
Motor vehicles 20%
Plant and machinery 5% — 20%

The carrying values of the Group's property interests comprises
buildings on land under medium-term land use rights in the PRC.

PREPAID LEASE PAYMENTS 15.

The Group's prepaid lease payments comprise leasehold land in the
PRC under medium-term lease.

14. % - BER®REZ)

ERYE RS RRAER T EEE
AR

B¥F 5%
BRI~ B RERE 20%
RE 20%
BB K ikas 50 —20%

AEBYEERNEAEREETEER
FETHIME AL EREREEY)

HfHERREA

AEEZBENHEEFREHEPEERNZ
PHEAHE L -

2013 2012
HK$'000 HK$'000
FET T

Analysed for reporting purposes as: DIT2IANT -
Non-current asset EMENEE 82,109 63,291
Current asset MBNEE 1,913 941
84,022 64,232

Note: As at 31 December 2013, government grants in respect of acquisition of
prepaid lease payments with an aggregate amount of HK$104,128,000 (2012:
HK$53,457,000) was deducted from the carrying amount of prepaid lease
payments.
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HK$'000
FHET

CoST D%
At 1 January 2012 and 31 December 2012 7201241 H1H X2012F12H31H -
Additions NE 48,470
At 31 December 2013 20135 12H31H 48,470

The investment property represented a piece of land acquired in
late November 2013 held for a currently undetermined future use.
The fair value of the Group's investment properties at 31 December
2013 was HK$48,470,000 (2012: nil). The fair value was
determined by directors based on the market approach. The market
approach uses prices and other relevant information generated by
market transactions involving comparable properties. In estimating
the fair value of the property, the highest and best use of the
properties is their current use. One of the key inputs used in valuing
the investment property was the sales prices of properties nearby
the Group's investment property which ranged from RMB2,265/
M2 to RMB2,620/M2 which the estimated price of the Group's
investment property is RMB2,225/M2. An increase in the sales
prices would result in an increase in fair value measurement of the
investment property and vice versa.

Details of the Group's investment property and information about
the fair value hierarchy as at 31 December 2013 are as follows:

Property with undetermined use located
in the PRC

The above investment property is depreciated on a straight-line
basis over the lease term of 40 years.
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AEFELEWMENR2013F12A31H2
HERAEBATFESH AT

IR AP B2 RORTE R ) 5

Fair value

as at

31 December

Level 2 2013
M20134%F

12A31H

E2W ZR¥E
HK$'000 HK$'000
FA&T FHET
48,470 48,470

A FREMETIRA0OF 2 HEFHINE
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17. INTANGIBLE ASSETS 17. EREE
Technical
knowhow
4ty R0 sk
HK$'000
FET
THE GROUP REE
COST 5%
At 1 January 2012 M20129F1 718 11,962
Currency realignment ME A 150
At 31 December 2012 2012 12H31H 12,112
Currency realignment B AR 309
At 31 December 2013 MR2013%F12A31H 12,421
AMORTISATION #ay
At 1 January 2012 201241 A1H 3,519
Provided for the year NS 1,196
Currency realignment TEH AR 60
At 31 December 2012 201212 A31H 4,775
Provided for the year NF E 1,227
Currency realignment TEH AR 137
At 31 December 2013 M2013F12H31H 6,139
CARRYING VALUE BREE
At 31 December 2013 R2013F12H31H 6,282
At 31 December 2012 2012 12H31H 7,337

The technical knowhow was acquired from third parties. It is
amortised on a straight-line basis over its estimated useful life of ten

years.
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Cost of unlisted investments in joint ventures
Exchange realignment
Share of profit (loss) and other comprehensive &1k % 1| (E518 ) K At

income (expense)

FLEMELEEZREKA

LR

2mEE ()

Details of each of the Group's joint ventures at the end of the
reporting period are as follows:

Name of entity

] R=g

FARBEFARAT

Southern Hill
Company Limited
HERRAR

Form of
entity ventures

RREF
5] P47

Limited incorporated

AR QB

Limited incorporated
BRARMKL

Place of
establishment/
incorporation

FR L i B

PRC
FE

Hong Kong
B
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Class of
shares
held

s
BERR

Ordinary
EEmR

Ordinary
e
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2013 2012
HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FAT
24,177 24177
2,999 1,168
162 (298)
27,338 25,047

HHASMEEAEEERRENRAT

Proportion of issued
and fully paid up
capital indirectly
held by the Group

ES 3L
BEREN
ERTRAMRERLH

2013 2012

40% 40%

50% 50%

Principal
activity

FEXK

Provision of port
facilities
RSN

Investment holding
incorporated

RERK
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(For the year ended 31 December 2013)

(BZE2013F12A31BILFE)

INTERESTS IN JOINT VENTURES (CONTINUED)

Summarised financial information in respect of each of the Group's
material joint ventures is set out below. The summarised financial
information below represents amounts shown in the joint venture's
financial statements prepared in accordance with HKFRSs.

The joint ventures are accounted for using the equity method in
these consolidated financial statements.

SEERZRR(E)

ERASEREALEEZMBEN -
BT « LT BEMRKRE EEE
MR 2 SRR B R -

ERRBEERRAOA BERRBEERRAA
2013 2012
HK$'000 HK$'000
FHET FHT
Current assets mENEE 22,916 69,093
Non-current assets IERBEE 73,684 6,305
Current liabilities mENAE (32,906) (13,287)
The above amounts of assets and liabilities include the following: NEFEERBESESREAUT :
2013 2012
HK$'000 HK$'000
FHET FHT
Cash and cash equivalents ReRkERREIER 22,532 619,093
Current financial liabilities mBEBEE
(excluding trade and other payables (TEEENES R
and provisions) H b FIE) (31,847) (12,422)

Reconciliation of the above summarised financial information to

N ERRYBENERERENEAR

the carrying amount of the interest in HHAREEEFR A A BEXRARAAZ REAEEINGS B
recognised in the consolidated financial statements: B -
2013 2012
HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FHET
Net assets of FHARAEEXBRAF FAREBEXBRARZFEE 63,694 62,111
Proportion of the Group's ownership RERERAREBEXARADA
interest in BEARBEXFRAA AR B 40% 40%
Carrying amount of the Group's SERENEAREBESE
interest inFAREEXBR AT BRARZEEE 25,478 24,844
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18. INTERESTS IN JOINT VENTURES (CONTINUED) 18. SEEEZER(Z)
Southern Hill Company Limited HIEER AT
2013 2012
HK$°000 HK$'000
FHET FTT
Current assets MENEE 1,583 10,416
Non-current assets EMEEE 183,634 119,568
Current liabilities mMEBBE (181,497) (799)
Non-current liabilities ERBEE - (128,780)
The above amounts of assets and liabilities include the following: NEFEERBESBESENT
2013 2012
HK$'000 HK$'000
FHET FHT
Cash and cash equivalents RekERREER 1,583 10,364
Non-current financial liabilities MBS EE
(excluding trade and other payables (TEEERNES R
and provisions) HibFIE) - (119,121)
2013 2012
HK$'000 HK$'000
FTHET FHT
Revenue ON - =
Profit (loss) and total comprehensive income — “E R A1 (E518) & 2 E U e
(expense) for the year (ZH)#sE 919 (650)
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B HRRM

(BZE2013F12A31BILFE)

INTERESTS IN JOINT VENTURES (CONTINUED)
Southern Hill Company Limited (Continued)

The above profit (loss) for the year include the following:

BEEZHE(E)
M ERAR ()

AL BREF (B8 BB T

2013 2012

HK$'000 HK$'000

T T

Depreciation and amortisation e M (40) (18)
Interest income FEUWA 3 -

Reconciliation of the above summarised financial information to the

NEERMBENBRERENEESR

carrying amount of the interest in Southern Hill Company Limited PRA T2 BREERRIN GRS Wk
recognised in the consolidated financial statements:
2013 2012
HK$000 HK$'000
THET FHETT
Net assets of Southern Hill Company Limited ~ FJIE AR AR 2 HEE 3,720 405
Proportion of the Group's ownership interestin &2 E A IEH R A 7
Southern Hill Company Limited HaEREZ D 50% 50%
Carrying amount of the Group's interest in SEKRERBIEBRA R
Southern Hill Company Limited - I =] 1,860 203
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20.
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INVENTORIES 19. &8

2013 2012
HK$'000 HK$'000
FHT FH&TT
Raw materials and consumables R R R FEF S 91,808 44,811
Work in progress T il 8,790 7,048
Finished goods RURK o 15,980 24,394
116,578 76,253

TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES 20. Bl RHRAMREA
2013 2012
HK$'000 HK$'000
FHET FH&TT
Trade receivables FEIE SR 37,324 15,302
Bills receivables VU ES 68,399 60,467
105,723 75,769
Prepayments AR 46,569 28,546
Deposits to suppliers NEEET © 13,690 32,733
Value-added tax receivables FEWBEERIE 103,454 19,128
Other receivables Hofh pE Y kIR 1,034 3,862
Total trade and other receivables FEUE 5 K E b FIR 270,470 160,038

The aged analysis of trade and bills receivables based on the invoice

BUWE S REEFARREPRIZER

date at the end of the reporting period is as follows: HE 2 BREQTATE -
2013 2012
HK$°000 HK$'000
FHET THETT
Not exceeding 30 days TEiE30H 98,161 72,307
31-60 days 31E60K 5,202 2,665
61-90 days 61290k 1,723 797
91-120 days 91£120K 637 -
105,723 75,769
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20.

21.

BB RN

(BZE2013F12A31BILFE)

TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES (CONTINUED)

Before accepting any new customer, the Group assesses the
potential customer’s credit quality by investigating its historical
credit record and then defines its credit limit. Trade receivables that
are neither past due nor impaired are considered to be recovered
based on historical experience.

The Group generally allows its trade customers a credit period
ranged from 7 to 60 days. During the years ended 31 December
2013 and 31 December 2012, no allowance for doubtful debts
was provided. The Group generally makes provision against
debts which are considered as not recoverable. At 31 December
2013, trade receivables of approximately HK$2,360,000 (2012:
HK$797,000) was past due. The Group does not hold any collateral
over the overdue balance.

Ageing of trade receivables which are past due but not impaired:

20. BERARAMBKRIR(E)

i

REREMHFEFH  AEEEBHE
BEFZBEEEREMERBEEEREY
BYBRATHEERE - RBER
% REBHMTEREZEKEZERX
SIS EAI A

AEBGETESITEFPZ2EEHR —K
NF7E60R - R2013F12A318 K
202 12A31HEE - WEEHREE
Bl - ARE—RERATREKREZE
TEETIREUE - M2013512A31H - fE
WE 5 R E B 49 £2,360,0007% 7T
(20124 : 797,000/ 7T) ° ANEE I &
MRS EEAERR -

BB EA T ROR B 8 FE W B 5 SR IE BR e 40
™

2013 2012

HK$'000 HK$'000

FHET T

61-90 days 61Z290H 2,360 797

LOAN TO A JOINT VENTURE/AMOUNT DUE FROM A 21. SBEfZER SBEEZEKR
JOINT VENTURE 15

The loan to a joint venture represented shareholder's loan to
Southern Hill Company Limited. As at 31 December 2013, the
amount is unsecured, interest-free and repayable on demand. The
directors expect the amount to be repaid within one year after
the reporting period. As at 31 December 2012, the amount was
unsecured, interest-free and repayable on demand. The directors
did not expect the amount to be repaid within one year after the
end of the reporting period. The loan is denominated in US dollars
which is a currency other than the functional currency of the
relevant group entity.

As at 31 December 2013, the amount due from a joint venture
represented the loan to BRAFEE X B R A R] for construction
of a pier. The amount is unsecured, interest-free and repayable in
October 2014.

82

BB e BERIEREL T Southern Hill
Company LimitedZ B3 ° 7A2013412
A318 - BEREAEER  T5HER
AEREREER N%EAH - E£EH
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M2012F12A31H - BARERER
A THERAREREER - R&ER
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Current Non-current
B IR B
2013 2012 2013 2012

HK$'000 HK$'000  HK$'000 HK$'000
TR TAT THET TAT

Derivative financial assets TECMERE
— net settlement —FREEE
Derivative under B HETEARZ
hedge accounting PTETIR
Interest rate swap (Note ii) ==t BR (M 2t ii) - = 360 -

Derivatives not under hedge $74 T B (k%

accounting BIEAER)
Foreign currency forward HNECRERE K (H75ti)
contracts (Note i) - 6,941 - =
Structured foreign currency HEBUINERBREH
forward contract (Note i) (Ha2i) 2,024 - - -
2,024 6,941 360 =
Derivative financial liabilities PTHEEREE
— net settlement —FREEE
Derivatives under REHETHEARZ
hedge accounting PTETIAR
Interest rate swaps (Note i) R =45 BR (B i) (502) - (2,811) (7,466)
Derivatives not under PTE T A (L IERE A
hedge accounting SHEAR)
Structured foreign currency REBMINEEHRER
forward contract (Note i) (Kratii) - = - (2,273)
(502) - (2,811) (9,739)
The fair values of the derivative financial instruments are calculated MESRIAEZ AFEDREMRES
using discounted cash flow analysis based on the applicable yield ME DT - LA R B #Hih 4 &R BAEE
curves of interest rates and forward rates. REEMEMETH o
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22. DERIVATIVE FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (CONTINUED) 22. fTE@MIR(E)
The derivative financial instruments are denominated in US and HK 5 AR TARNEHEEEE 23D
dollars which are not the functional currency of the relevant group BB ETRAITTEE
entity.
Notes: Bt -
(i)  Foreign currency forward contracts - not under hedge accounting (i) IMNEEBEH-FEHETET

All foreign currency forward contracts have matured on or before 31 December

FIEINEREIEHER2013F 12 A31 B kAT

2013. FH
As at 31 December 2012, the amount represented the fair value of foreign 2012612 A31 BZ S BIEAKERFAF 25
currency forward contracts held by the Group with terms stated as follows: BREIE K2 R ERIEREINNT

Notional amount
#HeeE

Currency conversion

BRgR

8 contracts to sell US$64,000,000 in total
817425 H164,000,0005 T4 4

US$1: RMB6.344 to 6.363
FEu1: AR¥6.344 10 6.363

During the year ended 31 December 2012, there was a fair value gain of M2012F12R31BR - FRE R FERA
HK$6,941,000. 6,941,007 7T °

(ii) Interest rate swaps - under hedging accounting (i) RIREH-REHEHET

FEBRAR R - BBEHSITERERT
BERIEFXRGERETHE  FHEE
borrowings (see note 26) by swapping a proportion of the variable-rate bank BIRZERETRBTRITERAAEZRS
borrowings from variable interest rates to fixed interest rates. The interest rate mEFERR(RHE26) o Fi%is 8 R AE
ZIRITEERBOEBRERIGR  EERR
FXEHATIEERREHTA - 120135
12831 BFIRE SR E 2 ERBHINAT

The Group uses interest rate swaps to minimise its exposure to cash flow
interest rate risk of certain of its variable-rate US dollars and HK dollars bank

swaps and the corresponding bank borrowings have substantially the same
terms and the directors of the Company consider that the interest rate swaps
are highly effective hedging instruments. Major terms of the interest rate swaps
outstanding at 31 December 2013 are set out below:

Notional amount

e

Interest rate swap

GRS

1 contract with HK$300,000,000
11300,000,000E L4 4

1 contract with US$38,000,000
11938,000,000% T4 4

1 contract with US$22,000,000
11922,000,000% L4 4

1 contract with US$15,000,000
1115,000,000FE T4 #)

1 contract with HK$200,000,000
119200,000,000/8 7T & #)

From LIBOR + 2.7% to fixed rate of 3.4%
HRGBURTTRIZRE+2.7%E = TF 8.3.4%
From LIBOR + 2% to fixed rate of 2.93%

R BERTT RN B +2%R B2 E 22.93%
From LIBOR to fixed rate of 1.68%
ARBERTTRIEREEHETE1.68%

From LIBOR + 1.75% to fixed rate of 2.83%
FRRBUERTTRIZIRE+1.75%E BiEF 5.2.83%
From HIBOR to fixed rate of 0.8%
REBRITREREEHAZEEL0.8%
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22. DERIVATIVE FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (CONTINUED)

Notes: (Continued)

(i)

(iif)

Interest rate swaps - under hedging accounting (Continued)

Major terms of the interest rate swaps outstanding at 31 December 2012 are as
below:

Notional amount

L F=Ri=H

Annual Report 2013 F 3

22. STEEMTHR(E)

B - (&)

(ii)

Interest rate swap

RREH - REHETET (&)

M2012F 12 A31 B 7 = B = 24§50
T

1 contract with US$38,000,000
11938,000,000% LA )

1 contract with US$22,000,000
11922,000,0003 A )

1 contract with US$15,000,000
113 15,000,0003% T4 4

1 contract with HK$200,000,000
115200,000,0007 T A 49

The above contracts will mature within one to four (2012: two to four) years
from the end of the reporting period which match with the tenor of the
corresponding bank borrowings.

During the year ended 31 December 2013, net adjustment of HK$4,514,000
(2012: HK$4,503,000) was credited (2012: debited) in other comprehensive
income and accumulated in equity and is expected to be released to the
consolidated statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income
at various dates in line with the interest schedule of the corresponding bank
borrowings in the coming one to four (2012: two to four) years. A loss from
fair value changes of HK$5,413,000 (2012: HK$4,084,000) relating to interest
incurred was recognised in profit or loss (note 9).

Structured foreign currency forward contract - not under hedge
accounting

At 31 December 2013, the notional amount of a structured foreign currency
forward contract amounted to US$5,000,000 with 24 valuation dates from 3
January 2013 to 3 December 2014 with settlement dates from 7 January 2013
to 5 December 2014. The expiry date of the contract is 3 December 2014.

On each of the 24 valuation dates, if the US$/RMB spot rate with reference to
Reuters page CNHFIXO1 as determined by a pre-agreed calculation agent (the
“Spot Rate") pursuant to the structured foreign currency forward contract, is
higher than a strike rate at US$1:RMB6.5 (the “Strike Rate"), the Group will be
obligated to sell the notional amount of US$5,000,000 at the Strike Rate and
thus the Group may suffer a loss. If the Spot Rate is less than the Strike Rate, the
Group will receive a pre-determined rebate amount of RMB144,000. There is a
fair value gain of HK$2,024,000 (2012: loss of HK$2,273,000) during the year.
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(iif)

From LIBOR + 2% to fixed rate of 2.93%

i ZUERTT R FEAF B 4+20% 1 IR F 82.93%
From LIBOR to fixed rate of 1.68%
AimZERTTRIZER SR BHEE £1.68%

From LIBOR + 1.75% to fixed rate of 2.83%

B ZERTTRIEEHT B+1.75004% i £ 5.2.83%
From HIBOR to fixed rate of 0.8%
HEBRITRZER SRS

EER0.8%

Ll AR REBRR1ZE4(20124F : 224)
FREE - WHEBBERITERRS -

2013F12A31 B R - FHEF54,514,000
HIT(20124F : 4,503,000 7C) ERNEMEE
W AR RN ERP RETEE - BHEN
AR —ZEME(20124F « —ENE)EAHE
BITEEZNEIFPERTRB FEESE
Wk - BFIEENESFBZATFEESE
4 2 [E5185,413,00078 7. (20124F : 4,084,000
PIT) BB R PR A RS (FHEE9) -

EBUIMEEEN - FEPEIET

MR2013F12A318 * B2013F1A38 %
2014512 A3 IE24@KEBET - &M
BIREG 4 2 B2 €58 45,000,000 T * 4
B HHIA2013F1A7HE20146F12A5H °
AHHER2014F 1238 Em °

RE24ERER - BIEBEABIEIINEERBE
B WMETEARBEELHE 2 FHHENRE
2B FE 1T B E(Reuters page) CNHFIXO1#
TH(REEX])  SRTEEX(TTEE
RDNETHARKE : 65 REBMBANT
1550 3 ) &5 %2 & %8 5,000,000% 7T + Bt
REBFREETEK - WREERENITE
EX AREBERELEERASEAR
#144,0007C - RAFE - EERFERH
2,024,000 7T (20124 © [E5182,273,000%
7)) ©
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23.

24.

(BZE2013F12A31BILFE)

BANK BALANCES AND CASH

Bank balances and cash comprise cash held by the Group and short
term bank deposits with an original maturity of three months or less.
The deposits carry prevailing market interest rates which range from
0.35% to 6.80% (2012: 0.35% to 5.80%) per annum.

The following amounts of bank and cash are denominated in the
foreign currencies other than the functional currency of the relevant
group entities.

23.

BITERREAS

RITEBRERSRREASERE 2 RS
RIRARNR3E A R3ME A 2 5
RITHER - REGFHIEMIGFHIFBEX
0.35%Z%6.80% (2012:0.35%Z%5.80%)
FHE o

ZNRE BB AN B HERCRR -

2013 2012
HK$'000 HK$'000
FHET FETT
HK dollars BT 1,576 3,248
US dollars ET 9,880 82,838
11,456 86,086

TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES 24. EFEAREMBRIE

Trade and other payables principally comprise amounts outstanding
for trade purchases and ongoing costs. The credit period obtained
for trade purchases is 7 to 45 days.

Included in trade and other payables is trade payable of
HK$73,862,000 (2012: HK$43,970,000). The aged analysis of
trade payable based on the invoice date at the end of the reporting
period is as follows:

ENESREMRBEIEREESEE
PEFEBERASKAZANRE -EFEE
ZFREREIRTE45K ©

ENE S REMKRIEAEREENMNER
N ZE g 49 73,862,000 7 T (2012
43,970,000 7T) BRI IS BIR
BEZAZERROTOT ¢

2013 2012

HK$'000 HK$'000

FEx FHET

Not exceeding 30 days THEE3I0R 51,522 32,286
31-60 days 31E260K 9,050 2,374
61-90 days 61290k 2,219 2,534
Over 90 days 90RVA = 11,071 6,776
73,862 43,970

Receipt in advance L 19,887 26,472
Construction costs payable and accruals FERt TR K EE R 169,296 24,926
Value-added tax accruals FERT I ERTE 27,595 21,559
Other payables H A FEAH R 26,951 9,267
Other accruals HEMERER 10,208 25,831
Total trade and other payables JERT U E 5 K E M RIBE FT 327,799 152,025

86




24. TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES (CONTINUED)

25.

The following amounts of trade and other payables are
denominated in currencies other than the functional currency of the
relevant group entities.

Annual Report 2013 F 3

24. BARHREMBRE(E)

AT A8 5 8RR R B 5 IR LA MR
SEERNIN T AN TR -

2013 2012

HK$'000 HK$'000

FERT FET

HK dollars BT 104 99

AMOUNT DUE TO A RELATED COMPANY

25. EfIRELTREA

2013 2012
HK$'000 HK$'000
THET FHET
Lee & Man Paper Manufacturing Limited BGERBR AT
(“Lee & Man Paper”) (MEExEH D) 2,938 6,989

Lee & Man Paper is beneficially owned and controlled by Mr. Lee
Wan Keung, the controlling shareholder of the Company’s ultimate
holding company, Fortune Star.

The amount is unsecured, non-interest bearing, repayable on
demand and aged within 90 days.
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26.

(BZE2013F12A31BILFE)

BANK BORROWINGS 26. SMITHER
2013 2012
HK$'000 HK$'000
THET FHET
Unsecured bank loans EIERIRITER 1,671,687 1,416,956
Carrying amount repayable: HEERFREE
Within one year —FA 559,197 180,130
More than one year, BH—FETBE —F
but not exceeding two years 694,827 486,038
More than two years but not BH-FETBERF
more than five years 395,446 712,092
1,649,470 1,378,260
Carrying amount of bank loans that are MBEHRER—FAEER
repayable within one year from the BBRIBER 2RERKR 2
end of the reporting period and contain RITEREREE
a repayment on demand clause 16,598 16,320
Carrying amount of bank loans that are RIERREBA-—FAER
not repayable within one year from the 1BE A AIBER 2SRERKR 2
end of the reporting period but contain RITEFEREE
a repayment on demand clause (RREBBETIIR)
(shown under current liabilities) 5,619 22,376
1,671,687 1,416,956
Less: Amounts due within one year B —FARER S RER
shown under current liabilities WEAE TR (581,414) (218,826)
Amounts shown under non-current liabilities RIERBEE YT 1,090,273 1,198,130
As at 31 December 2013, the Group had available banking facilities K213 12 831H » X&EEHA B

of approximately HK$1,919,201,000 (2012: HK$2,718,105,000)
of which HK$1,671,687,000 (2012: HK$1,416,956,000) was

utilised.

7% ot (2012

ZIRITHE A EE R4 1,919201,000
2,718,105,000 7 JT ) °
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26. BANK BORROWINGS (CONTINUED)

The exposure of the Group’s fixed-rate borrowings and the
contractual maturity dates are as follows:

Annual Report 2013 F 3

26. SBITHM(=Z)

REBEZEEMNEERREQTHB N
S ¢

2013 2012
HK$'000 HK$'000
THET FHETT
Fixed-rate borrowings: ] 7E MR AE T

Within one year —FR 79,487 -

In more than one year but not more BE—FETHBE=F
than two years 95,385 79,487

In more than two years but not more BH-FETBHAF
than five years 25,128 120,513
200,000 200,000

At the end of the reporting period, all of the Group's remaining
borrowings carried variable-rate interest.

The ranges of effective interest rates per annum on the Group's
borrowings are as follows:

RBERR - KEAEHTRITERY

FiFE 8 o

AEEERCERERREEMT -

2013 2012
Effective interest rate: B FI=E
Fixed-rate borrowings B EFIEER 3.68% 3.68%
Variable-rate borrowings FENNEAE K 1.75% to 1.6% to
2.7% over 3% over
HIBOR or HIBOR or
LIBOR LIBOR
BERRITEE BAHRTEE
HFEHRHE  FEAMH
RITRIZ HRITRIZE
FEMLI5%  H7EH1.6%
£2.7% £3%

The following amounts of bank borrowings are denominated in
currencies other than the functional currency of the relevant group

7S [ 5 LAARRE B BRI AL B B
ZRITER2FIMT -

entities.
2013 2012
HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FET
US dollars ES 722,217 966,956
HK dollars BT 949,470 450,000
1,671,687 1,416,956
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217.

28.

SHARE CAPITAL 7. X
Number of
ordinary
shares Amount
EBERNHA &H
HK$'000
FHT
Ordinary shares of HK$0.10 each: BREEO. VBT T -
Authorised: SEE
At 1 January 2012, 31 December 2012 M2012F1A18 « 20124
and 31 December 2013 12A318&2013F12A31H 5,000,000,000 500,000
Issued and fully paid: BITRER
At 1 January 2012, 31 December 2012 M20124F1 A1H ~ 20124
and 31 December 2013 12A318B&2013F12A31H 825,000,000 82,500

There was no movement in the Company's share capital for both
years.

SHARE OPTION SCHEME

The Company's share option scheme (the “Scheme”) was adopted
pursuant to a resolution passed on 14 December 2001 for the
purpose of providing incentives to directors and eligible persons.
The Scheme had a term of 10 years from its adoption and therefore
it expired on 13 December 2010. On 23 April 2010, share options
with a market value of HK$163,430,000 were granted and the
provision of the Scheme shall remain in full force and the holder
of all options granted under the Scheme prior to such termination
shall be entitled to exercise the outstanding options pursuant to the
terms of the Scheme until expiry of the said options.

Under the Scheme, the Company's board of directors could at their
discretion grant options to (i) any director, employee or consultant
of the Company or a company in which the Company holds an
equity interest or a subsidiary of such company (“Affiliate”); or (ii)
any discretionary trust whose discretionary objects include any
director, employee or consultant of the Company or an Affiliate;
or (iii) a company beneficially owned by any director, employee
or consultant of the Company or an Affiliate; or (iv) any customer,
supplier or adviser as may be determined by the directors of the
Company from time to time to subscribe for the shares of the
Company.
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ARFZ BAREREFEE AL IFES) -

28. FBERIERTEI

AAFRE—BR2001F 128148 @
BZRBER - DERMNBIREST (5
gl URBESREEAL - 5TEIK
BRREBEI0FRAR - THR2010512 8
138 @M ° R2010F4A23H  E#EA
BE RS #E T {E 5 163,430,000 7T M 4R 1
RIGT B R ER - T AT A ERL R RE IR
BH ABRB NG BT 2 5
BR RAX I ERIERETTFEABRARE AR -

RS ARAEFS([EFE )
BERG)AKE - AEBERERAELD
ZRAMHZ AR ZHBRR([BE R
ADZEMES  BEHER : H(i)F
S ABREAEEREBE QR 2 TAE
% EEHEMZEAREEE (i)
HAEEAEBBLARZENES - &
BXERERBAZAR  H(VBES
ERTRREZEMES - HER KR
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Options granted must be taken up within 21 days of the date of
grant. The maximum number of shares of the Company in respect
of which options might be granted under the Scheme was not
to exceed 10% of the issued share capital of the Company any
point in time. The maximum number of shares of the Company in
respect of which options might be granted to any individual in any
12-month period was not to exceed 1% of shares of the Company
in issue on the last date of such 12-month period unless approval
of the shareholders of the Company was obtained in accordance
with the Listing Rules.

Options could be exercised during such period (including the
minimum period, if any, for which an option must be held before it
could be exercised) as determined by the directors of the Company
(which shall be less than ten years from the date of issue of the
relevant option). Options could be granted without initial payment.
The exercise price was equal to the highest of (i) nominal value of
the shares of the Company; (ii) the closing price per share as stated
in the Stock Exchange’s daily quotations sheets on the date of the
grant of the options; and (iii) the average closing price per share as
stated in the Stock Exchange's daily quotations sheets for the five
business days immediately preceding the date of the grant of the
options.

The following table discloses movements of the Company's share
options during the year ended 31 December, 2013:

Outstanding
Exercise at
Director Date of grant price  Exercisable period 1.1.2012
W2012%
1A18
Bz R AH e e i RITE
HK$
BT
Lee Man Yan 2342010 6.69  234.2011-224.2015 27,500,000
2342010 6.69  23.4.2012-224.2015 27,500,000
2342010 6.69  23.4.2013-22.42015 27,500,000
Total FE 82,500,000
Bercsable atthe  RERATE
end of the year FRIES
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BRETRESSET <A BHR (X
A B ETABRBRELE105R - X
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HIR (IA)) ATTE - BAER £ HAE
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BRMERMI 2 BBRRHE R
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ZEBRBERMI 2 FHERKTIE

HZE2013F12A31 8 LEE » A2 7

BIREZEH27|0T ¢
Number of share options
BREHE
Granted/ Granted/
exercised/ exercised/
lapsed/ lapsed/
cancelled/ Outstanding cancelled  Outstanding
during at during at
the year 1.1.2013 theyear  31.12.2013
£ H20135 £ 20135
Rit /176 118 BH/f7E/ 12A31A
35, HRTE  BE B i RITHE
- 27,500,000 - 27,500,000
- 27,500,000 - 27,500,000
- 27,500,000 - 27,500,000
- 82,500,000 - 82,500,000
55,000,000 82,500,000
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28. SHARE OPTION SCHEME (CONTINUED)

The options granted on 23 April 2010 may be exercised in
accordance with the following terms:

®

(ii)

iir)

(iv)

The

up to one-third of the options (i.e. options for an aggregate of
27,500,000 shares) will be exercisable from 23 April 2011 to
22 April 2015 (both dates inclusive) if the consolidated net
profit after taxation of the Group (“Net Profit") for the financial
year ended 31 December 2010 equals or exceeds 115% of
the Net Profit for the financial year ended 31 December 2009;

up to two-thirds of the options (i.e. options for an aggregate
of 55,000,000 shares) will be exercisable from 23 April 2012
to 22 April 2015 (both dates inclusive) if the Net Profit for the
financial year ended 31 December 2011 equals or exceeds
130% of the Net Profit for the financial year ended 31
December 2009;

all of the options (i.e. options for an aggregate of 82,500,000
shares) will be exercisable from 23 April 2013 to 22 April
2015 (both dates inclusive) if the Net Profit for the financial
year ended 31 December 2012 equals or exceeds 145% of
the Net Profit for the financial year ended 31 December 2009;

to the extent any options have not become exercisable by
23 April 2014 (i.e. options for an aggregate of 82,500,000
shares), they will be exercisable from 23 April 2014 to 22 April
2015 (both dates inclusive) if the Net Profit for the financial
year ended 31 December 2013 equals or exceeds 160% of
the Net Profit for the financial year ended 31 December 2009.

option shall lapse if the options holder by reason of voluntary

resignation or by termination of his employment in accordance with
the termination provisions of his contract of employment.

At 31 December 2013, the number of shares in respect of which
options had been granted and remained outstanding under the
Scheme represented 10% (2012: 10%) of the issued share capital
at that date.
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The total fair value of the share options granted under the Scheme
on 23 April 2010 is approximately HK$163,430,000, calculated
using the Binomial Model (the “Model"). The inputs into the Model
and the estimated fair value of the share options are as follows:

Share price at date of grant RELBEZRE
Exercise price 1T1EE

Expected volatility FEEDR
Expected life of share options FERETRSFH

EETEE
FERTHIE
WA IEZ AT B

Expected dividend yield
Risk-free rate
Fair value of share option

Expected volatility was determined by using the historical volatility
of share price over the previous five years. The expected life used
in the Model has been adjusted, based on management's best
estimate, for the effects of non transferability, exercise restrictions
and behavioural considerations.

The risk free interest rate was estimated based on the yield of the
5-year exchange fund note issued by the Hong Kong Monetary
Authority as of the grant date.

The variables and assumptions used in computing the fair value of
the share options are based on the directors’ best estimate. The
value of an option varies with different variables of certain subjective
assumptions.

Share option expense of approximately HK$6,000,000 (2012:
HK$28,256,000) was recognised in the general and administrative
expenses in the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other
comprehensive income for the year ended 31 December 2013,
calculated with reference to the vesting period.
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Share options Share options

Share options

with an with an with an
exercisable exercisable exercisable
period from  period from  period from
BREZ BREZ BREZ
TR TERR TEHA
23.4.2011 23.4.2012 23.4.2013
to to to
22.4.2015 22.4.2015 22.4.2015
HK$6.69 HK$6.69 HK$6.69
HK$6.69 HK$6.69 HK$6.69
53.62% 53.62% 53.62%

per annum per annum per annum
5 years 5 years 5 years
4.75% 4.75% 4.75%
2.03% 2.03% 2.03%
HK$1.78 HK$2.02 HK$2.15

EHRBIRARRBERFARREZ
B EERE - EAMRABRPFEHE
AR (TERIRTAEBLZIF
EBREBEREMGRE -

EEARFTHEELRERR AFH
SAERS 5 EHE M BB -

SR B R A ekt B A A B
TREEREL - BREEES R
Bz FASHmEE -

B A% #E % 496,000,000 7T (2012 -
28,256,000/ 7T) E R B E2013F 12 A
INAEFEZGEEEAREROITHE
AR WAKBHHELEH -
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29. OPERATING LEASES 29. EEHK

2013 2012
HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FHAT
Minimum lease payments paid under FRBBANAEYELETELY
operating leases in respect of office ZEERERK
premises during the year 96 155

At the end of the reporting period, the Group had commitments for
future minimum lease payments under non-cancellable operating
leases in respect of office premises and machinery HK$92,000
(2012: HK$2,131,000) which fall due as follows:

RIREHR - AN B AGE T 0] BUH A oY
DREMERKE 2 K RFEEE KR
/92,0008 70 (20124 : 2,131,000/
7o) ERERLT ¢

2013 2012

HK$000 HK$'000

FET FET

Within one year —F A 92 2,042
In the second to fifth years inclusive REZZERFA - 89
92 2,131

Included in the commitments above, the following is related to
commitments for future minimum lease payments under non-
cancellable operating leases with Lee & Man Paper (note 33).

T EaEEES - AT B SOEAR TR AL
TR RUEEE LN 2 R RREHE MK
A B (MFE33) -

2013 2012

HK$'000 HK$'000

FET FHET

Within one year —FRX 92 90
In the second to fifth year inclusive REZEERFA - 89
92 179

The commitments for operating lease payments represent rentals
payable by the Group for office properties. Leases are negotiated for
an average term of two years (2012: two years). Rentals are based
on the terms specified in the lease agreements.
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CAPITAL COMMITMENTS 30. WAKiE
2013 2012
HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FHET
Capital expenditure contracted for but not ERIKERNERE M H R T
provided in the consolidated financial BEsEAMS LREEEYE
statements in respect of the acquisition of R K %t
property, plant and equipment 557,620 423,558
OTHER COMMITMENT 31. Hftiaxiz

At the end of the reporting period, the Group had contractual
commitments for acquisition of land use rights of HK$41,128,000
(2012: HK$33,400,000). It also had commitments for granting
shareholder's loan of HK$40,468,000 (2012: HK$60,410,000)
to Southern Hill Company Limited to cover the initial costs and
expenses of undertaking the pier construction in Jiangxi to date.

RETIREMENT BENEFIT SCHEMES
Defined contribution scheme

The Group operates the Mandatory Provided Fund Scheme (“MPF
Scheme”) for all qualifying employees in Hong Kong. The assets of
the MPF Scheme are held separately from those of the Group, in
funds under the control of trustees. The Group contributes monthly
the lower of HK$1,250 or 5% of the relevant monthly payroll costs
to the MPF Scheme, which contribution is matched by employees.

The employees of the Group's subsidiaries in the PRC are members
of state-managed retirement benefit schemes operated by the
government of the PRC. The PRC subsidiaries are required to
contribute certain percentage of payroll costs to the retirement
benefit scheme to fund the benefits. The only obligation of the
Group with respect to the retirement benefit schemes is to make
the specified contributions.

The total cost charged to profit or loss of HK$6,094,000 (2012:

HK$3,921,000) represents contributions payable to these schemes
by the Group in respect of the current accounting period.
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33. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS AND BALANCES 33. MEXHREER

Apart from the balances with related parties as set out in notes 21
and 25, the Group had significant transactions with related parties

AEBEEBEATRERMETZIER
R ERBERR 2 &R (M FE21 525)

during the year as follows: wm
Name of related party Relationship Nature of transactions 2013 2012
BEL A% BA& RAME HK$'000 HK$'000
FExT T
Connected parties
BEAL
Lee & Man Paper A company beneficially Electricity and steam fee paid 76,275 73,340
BGER owned and controlled by ~ BABEBERERE
Mr. Lee Wan Keung Fuel expense paid 396 425
MPEREEERER [EENFAY SR~
St d/NS Rental expense paid 1,705 1,553
EffHEE
Sales of chemical products 4,792 4,760
HECIER
Electricity and steam fee 17,819 -
received
BRBEBREARE
Fuel expense paid 74 -
ERHREE
Rental income received 829 -
B
Utility expense paid 145 -
ENARER
Lee & Man Management A company beneficially owned Management consultant fee 535 16

Company Limited and controlled paid
BYXEBRERAT by Mr. Lee Wan Keung ENEREME

Except for the related party transactions and balances described
above, the Group has entered into a joint venture arrangement
with Lee & Man Paper. Details of the joint venture and the other

BMFEREEERER
JSEEat /N

commitment to the joint venture are set out in notes 21 and 30 BEDRIER

respectively.
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33.

34.

RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS AND BALANCES
(CONTINUED)

The remuneration of directors and other members of key
management during the year was as follows:

Annual Report 2013 F 3

33. MEXHRER(E)

BEERHEMEFEEEERBRFRNZH
o (N

2013 2012

HK$'000 HK$'000

T FHT

Short-term employee benefits FREE TR 13,433 14,175

Post-employment benefits RIKRERH 30 24
Share-based payment performance ARt R B 2 B RIS

related incentive 6,000 28,256

19,463 42,455

MAJOR NON-CASH TRANSACTIONS

During the year, purchases of property, plant and equipment of
HK$411,266,000 (2012: HK$240,751,000) and prepaid lease
payments of HK$9,046,000 (2012: nil), respectively, were settled
through transfer of deposits paid.
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35. PARTICULARS OF PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES OF THE 35. £ EMEAT

COMPANY

Particulars of the Company's principal subsidiaries at 31 December

R2013F R2012F 12 A31BARAZ

2013 and 2012 are as follows: FEMBRABFBLOT
Nominal value of issued
Place of and fully paid share Attributable
Name of subsidiary incorporation capital/paid-in capital equity interest Principal activities*
BRTRBERFEE/
WEARERE EA LGS BEARE Ly TEEY
2013 2012
Changshu Yunhong Realty PRC Paid-in capital - 100% - Property development
Limited (note 1) H RMB120,000,000 NEER
EAEBRHEARNERAA EARA-
AR #120,000,0007
Guangdong Lee & Man PRC Paid-in capital - 100% 100%  Research and development of
Chemical R&D Limited (note) w 1S$2,020,000 chemical products

EREX L IHEERAR M Z) EHRA—2,020,000%TT

M IER

High Sky Chemicals Limited Labuan, Malaysia ~ Ordinary share - 100% 100%  Trading of chemical products
PRS- HRAZ  US$10,000 tIERES
LERH—10000%T

Jiangsu Lee & Man Chemical PRC Paid-in capital - 100% 100%  Manufacture and sales of
Limited (“Jiangsu L&M") (note) F US$78,750,000 chloromethane products

THECIERAR EHRAK—78,750,000%TT and caustic soda
(MI&EEX )iz AERHEET ALY -

R BELE

Jiangxi Lee & Man Chemical Limited ~ PRC Paid-in capital - 100% 100%  Manufacture and sales of
(note) H US$52,500,000 fluorochemical products

TEEXULTERRR(H2) ElRA—52,500,000% 7T EERHERTER

Lee & Man (International) Investment  Hong Kong Ordinary shares - 100% 100%  Investment holding
Limited BE HK$100 B

BEX (BR)REARAR E@RH 1008

Lee & Man Chemical Investment British Virgin Islands ~ Shares — US$1 100% 100%  Investment holding
Limited RBRAEE i —1%71 REEKR

B IRERRAR

* The principal activities were carried out in the PRC and Hong Kong. 5 FTEEBHETBEREE -

note:  These companies are registered in the form of wholly-owned foreign Hist . ZERAHRINEBECER M -

investment enterprise.
note 1: The entity was established during the year. M1 - ZIEERENKL
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35.

36.

PARTICULARS OF PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES OF THE
COMPANY (CONTINUED)

Only Lee & Man Chemical Investment Limited was directly held by
the Company.

The above table lists the subsidiaries of the Company which, in the
opinion of the directors, principally affected the results or assets of
the Group. To give details of other subsidiaries would, in the opinion
of the directors, result in particulars of excessive length.

None of the subsidiaries had any debt securities outstanding at the
end of the year, or at any time during the year.

CAPITAL RISK MANAGEMENT

The Group manages its capital to ensure the entities in the Group
will be able to continue as a going concern while maximising the
return to shareholders through the optimisation of the debt and
equity balance. The Group's overall strategy remains unchanged
from prior year.

The capital structure of the Group consists of net debt, which
includes the bank loans disclosed in note 26, net of bank balances
and cash, and equity attributable to owners of the Company,
comprising issued share capital and various reserves.

The directors of the Company review the capital structure
periodically. As part of this review, the directors consider the cost of
capital and the risks associated with each class of capital. Based on
recommendations of the directors, the Group will balance its overall
capital structure through the payment of dividends, new share issues
as well as issue of new debts.
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37. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

37a. Categories of financial instruments

(BZE2013F12A31BILFE)

37. &@MTH

37a. EBMIT AR

2013 2012
HK$'000 HK$'000
FTHET T
Financial assets TR EE
Loans and receivables (including cash ERRERFIE(BERe KRS
and cash equivalents) FEIER) 1,271,951 1,670,289
Fair value through profit or loss NFERFAER
— derivative financial instruments —PTESRMIT A 2,024 6,941
Derivative under hedge accounting RER AT E SR I A 360 -
Financial liabilities ZHIAE
Financial liabilities at amortised cost HHHEK AN S RAE 1,894,108 1,502,108
Fair value through profit or loss NHEGARR
— derivative financial instruments —THESRTA - 2,273
Derivatives under hedge accounting REPEHERNITE SR T A 3,313 7,466

37b. Financial risk management objectives and policies

The Group's major financial instruments include trade and
other receivables, loans to joint ventures, amount due from
a joint venture, bank balances and cash, trade and other
payables, bank borrowings, amount due to a related company
and derivative financial instruments. Details of these financial
instruments are disclosed in respective notes. The risks
associated with these financial instruments include market risk
(currency risk and interest rate risk), credit risk and liquidity risk.
The policies on how to mitigate these risks are set out below.
The management manages and monitors these exposures to
ensure appropriate measures are implemented on a timely

and effective manner.
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37b.Financial risk management objectives and policies -
continued (Continued)

37b. S EREEBEEERBER(Z)

Market risk el

(i) Currency risk () BEERER

The Group mainly operated in the PRC and the exposure
in exchange rate risks mainly arose from fluctuations of
foreign currencies, including HK dollars and US dollars
against the functional currency of the relevant group
entities. Material transactions and balances that are not
denominated in the functional currency of the relevant
entities give rise to foreign currency exposure as follows:

(i) US dollars — in terms of loan to a joint venture, bank
balances and cash, bank borrowings and derivative
financial instruments.

(i) HK dollars — in terms of bank balances and cash,
trade and other payables, bank borrowings and
derivative financial instruments.

Exchange rate fluctuations and market trend have
always been the concern of the Group. Management
will monitor the foreign currency exposure closely and
consider the use of hedging instruments when the need
arises.

Non-derivative foreign currency monetary assets and
monetary liabilities

At the end of the reporting period, the carrying amount
of the Group’s monetary assets and monetary liabilities
denominated in currencies other than the functional
currency of the relevant group entities are as follows:

Assets EE
HK dollars BT
US dollars =7
Liabilities 8f&
HK dollars BT
US dollars E7T
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AEE = BR b ES T
EREREEmIME(RIEE
RGBT R iE R e E e
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BARRIE BB AL I (B B
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T

() ET-—RAEERZE
R RITEHRNRE - R
TERRITEESRTIA -

@iy BT-—RB|ITEHEER
T BNESREAMK
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TH-

RE B — A BEE XM E) R
5igs - ERESTYIEEIN
ERR AR SRR T

ILTESNE M EEREHE

&

REREHR - NEEREAE
RERINEEBIEINZES
TREEMERAE  HE@
BT

2013 2012
HK$'000 HK$'000
FET TATT
1,565 3,248
91,400 147,228
700,104 450,099
971,687 966,956
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37. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (CONTINUED) 37. @MIR(E)

37b. IR EE BB REE(E)

37b.Financial risk management objectives and policies

(Continued)
Market risk (Continued) m5EE (&)
(i) Currency risk (Continued) () EBEREERE)

Non-derivative foreign currency monetary assets and
monetary liabilities (Continued)

Sensitivity analysis

The following table details the Group's sensitivity to a 5%
appreciation and depreciation in the functional currency
of the relevant group entities (i.e. RMB and HK dollars)
against the above foreign currencies. 5% is the sensitivity
rate and represents management's assessment of the
reasonably possible change in foreign exchange rates.
The sensitivity analysis adjusts their translation at the
period end for a 5% change in foreign currency rates. A
strengthening of the functional currency of the relevant
group entities against the above foreign currencies would
give rise to the following impact to post-tax profit for the
year and vice versa.

FTENNE T HEER T MR
E(#E)

TRFFMEIIB A ER A FERES
SEEEDNREEE(BEAR
BRI Kk BN
F R T BE 5% 2 BURLE ° 5%H]
BRENMESREEAE
HINEE RS ERRER L o
£ HA 2K B 500 B 4N B BE R 8B
B FREMER ZEBEHX
MATHREL AR - EHRBEE
EER I ERE i Faish
HRater B FERTE
BB E  RZIVA -

2013 2012
HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FHET
Monetary assets and liabilities: BE¥MHEERAE
Increase on post-tax profit for the year — F/E 114 5% 1 hn
— HK dollars —BTT 34,927 22,343
— US dollars —X7T 39,497 40,987
Derivative financial instruments trETETA

During the year, the Group entered into a structured
foreign currency forward contract and several foreign
currency forward contracts with banks to reduce its
exposure to currency risk of US$ against RMB. The
structured foreign currency forward contract and foreign
currency forward contracts are not accounted for under
hedge accounting. The Group is required to estimate
the fair value of the derivative financial statements at the
end of the reporting period, which therefore exposed the
Group to foreign currency risk.
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37b.Financial risk management objectives and policies
(Continued)

Market risk (Continued)
(i)  Currency risk (Continued)
Derivative financial instruments (Continued)

Sensitivity analysis

Structured foreign currency forward contracts and foreign
currency forward contracts — not under hedge accounting

If the exchange rate of US$ against RMB had been
5% higher/lower while all other input variables of the
valuation models were held constant, the Group's post-
tax profit would increase (decrease) as follows:

Higher by 5% #hn5%
Derivative financial instruments PTEEMIA

Lower by 5% 5%
Derivative financial instrument PTEEmTA

(i) Interest rate risk
Non-derivative financial assets and liabilities

The Group's cash flow interest rate risks mainly relate
to its variable rate borrowings (see note 26 for details
of these borrowings). It is the Group's policy to keep its
borrowings at fixed interest rate so as to minimise the
cash flow interest rate risk. The Group’s bank balances
also have exposure to cash flow interest rate risk due to
the fluctuation of the prevailing market interest rate on
bank balances.

The Group's exposures to interest rates on financial
liabilities are detailed in the liquidity risk management
section of this note. The Group cash flow interest rate risk
is mainly concentrated on the fluctuation of HIBOR and
LIBOR arising from the Group's HK dollars and US dollars
denominated borrowings.
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LEE & MAN CHEMICAL COMPANY LIMITED ¥EX{t THRA A

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
e TSR ER MR

(For the year ended 31 December 2013)

(BZE2013F12A31BILFE)

37. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (CONTINUED)

37b.Financial risk management objectives and policies
(Continued)

Market risk (Continued)

(ii)

Interest rate risk (Continued)

Non-derivative financial assets and liabilities (Continued)

Sensitivity analysis

The sensitivity analysis below have been determined
based on the exposure to interest rates for non-derivative
financial instruments at the end of the reporting period.
For variable rate bank borrowings, to the extent that
they are not hedged by effective instruments, and
bank balances, the analysis is prepared assuming the
stipulated change taking place at the beginning of the
financial year and held constant throughout both years
in the case of instruments that have floating rates. 10
(2012: 10) basis point and 50 (2012: 50) basis point
increase or decrease are used by the management for
the assessment of the possible change in interest rates of
variable rate bank balances and variable rate borrowings,
respectively.

If interest rates had been 10 basis point higher or lower
and all other variables were held constant, the Group’s
post-tax profit for the year ended 31 December 2013
would increase or decrease by HK$867,000 (2012:
HK$891,000). This is mainly attributable to the Group's
exposure to interest rates on its variable rate bank
balances.

If interest rates had been 50 basis point higher or lower
and all other variables were held constant, the Group's
post-tax profit for the year ended 31 December 2013
would decrease or increase by HK$3,758,000 (2012:
HK$2,446,000). This is mainly attributable to the Group's
exposure to interest rates on its variable rate borrowings.
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37b.Financial risk management objectives and policies
(Continued)

Market risk (Continued)

(i)

Interest rate risk (Continued)
Derivative financial instruments

During the year, the Group entered into several interest
rate swap contracts with banks to reduce its exposure to
interest rate risk in relation to variable rate borrowings (see
note 26 for details of these borrowings). All outstanding
interest rate swaps are accounted for under hedge
accounting. The Group is required to estimate the fair
value of the interest rate swap contracts at the end of the
reporting period, which therefore exposed the Group to
interest rate risk.

Interest rate sensitivity

If forward interest rates had been 50 (2012: 50) basis
points higher and all other variable were held constant,
the Group's post-tax profit and equity would increase as
follows and vice versa:

At 31 December 2013

At 31 December 2012
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LEE & MAN CHEMICAL COMPANY LIMITED ¥EX{t THRA A

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
e R ERR MR
(For the year ended 31 December 2013) (EZE2013F12A318IEFE)

37. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (CONTINUED) 37. @MIR(E)

37b. B AR EEBERBEK(E)

37b.Financial risk management objectives and policies

(Continued)
Credit risk

The Group’s maximum exposure to credit risk in the event
of the counterparties’ failure to perform their obligations in
relation to each class of recognised financial assets is the
carrying amount of those assets as stated in the consolidated
statement of financial position. The Group is also exposed
to concentration of credit risk as a substantial portion of its
sales is generated from a limited number of customers. At
31 December 2013, the top five customers of the Group
accounted for about 24% (2012: 219%) of the Group's trade
receivables. The Group also granted loan and advance to joint
ventures (note 21). In order to minimise the credit risk, the
management of the Group has delegated a team responsible
for determination of credit limits, credit approvals and other
monitoring procedures to ensure that follow-up action is
taken to recover overdue debts. In addition, the management
reviews the recoverable amount of each individual trade debt
and loan/advance to joint venture at the end of reporting
period to ensure that adequate impairment losses are made
for irrecoverable amounts. In this regard, the directors of the
Company consider that the Group’s credit risk is significantly
reduced.

The credit risk on bank deposits is limited because the

counterparties are banks with high credit-ratings assigned by
international credit-rating agencies.
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37b.Financial risk management objectives and policies

(Continued)
Liquidity risk

In the management of the Group’s liquidity risk, the Group
monitors and maintains a level of cash and cash equivalents
deemed adequate by the management to finance the Group's
operations and mitigate the effects of fluctuation in cash flows.
The Group also has unutilised banking facilities (note 26) of
approximately HK$247,514,000 (2012: HK$1,301,149,000)
to meet its short-term working capital requirements. The
management monitors the utilisation of bank borrowings and
ensure compliance with loan covenants.

The following table details the Group's remaining contractual
maturity for its non-derivative financial liabilities based on the
agreed repayment terms. The table has been drawn up based
on the undiscounted cash flows of financial liabilities based
on the earliest date on which the Group can be required to
pay. Specifically, bank loans with a repayment on demand
clause are included in the earliest time band regardless of the
probability of the banks choosing to exercise their rights. The
maturity dates for other non-derivative financial liabilities are
based on the agreed repayment dates. The table includes both
interest and principal cash flows. To the extent the interest
flows are floating rate, the undiscounted amount is derived
from interest rate at the end of the reporting period.

In addition, the following table details the Group's liquidity
analysis for its derivative financial instruments. The tables have
been drawn up based on the undiscounted contractual net
cash (inflows) and outflows on derivative financial instruments
that settle on a net basis. When the amount payable is not
fixed, the amount disclosed has been determined by reference
to the projected interest rates as illustrated by the yield curves
existing at the end of the reporting period. The liquidity analysis
for the Group's derivative financial instruments are prepared
based on the contractual maturities as the management
consider that the contractual maturities are essential for an
understanding of the timing of the cash flows of derivatives.
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(For the year ended 31 December 2013) (#Z=2013F12A318ILFE)

37. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (CONTINUED)

37b.Financial risk management objectives and policies

37. &@@MIAE)

37b. I RBREERBEREE(E)

(Continued)
Liquidity risk (Continued) REEEmEE(E)
Weighted
average Total
effective  On demand Over undiscounted Carrying
interestrate or0-30days  31-60days  61-90 days 91-365 days 365days  cash flows amount
BRA= EEZXRS, fiikc) KR
MEFIH 0-30% 31-60% 61-90%  91-365% 365Kk RenEdt IR
% HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
% TER ThR TER ThR TER T ThR
As at 31 December 2013 #2013512A31R
Non-derivative financial liabiliies FlirEEBEBE
Non-interest bearing &S - 140,543 25,505 1215 46,632 3,526 223,421 223,421
Fived interest rate instruments EEIA 3.68 - 19,992 - 61,809 124,948 206,749 200,000
Variable interest rate instruments HZETE 2.65 22,994 - 136,616 349,973 997,796 1,507,379 1,471,687
163,537 45,497 143,831 458,414 1,126,270 1,937,549 1,895,108
Derivative financial instruments 42 @IA
~ net setflement -HETE
Interest rate swaps pilbscctd 1,008 - 708 914 729 3,359 3313
Weighted
average Total
effectve  On demand Over  undiscounted Carrying
interestrate  or0-30days  31-60days  61-90days  91-365 days 365 days cash flows amount
9% 0-30K% 31-60K 61-90K 91-365K% 365K REMEEE FEE
% HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
% FhL Fh FhL Ta THL FhL TAT
As at 31 December 2012 #2012512A318
Non-derivative financial liabilities FitaBEE
Non-interest bearing ESAE - 69,441 5833 2,805 7073 - 85,152 85,152
Fixed interest rate instruments ks IE 368 - - - - 207,360 207,360 200,000
Variable interest rate instruments 258 38,696 - 92,285 90,716 1,023,936 1,245,633 1,216,956
108,137 5833 95,090 97,789 1,231,296 1,538,145 1,502,108
Derivative financial instruments 2 BIA
— net setflement —FEFE
Interest rate swaps Flzm 1816 88 88 1 4482 7,585 7,466
Structured foreign currency BRI
forward contract REAN 181 180 180 811 926 2278 2273
1997 268 268 1,922 5,408 9,863 9,739
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37b.Financial risk management objectives and policies

(Continued)
Liquidity risk (Continued)

Bank loans with a repayment on demand clause are
included in the “on demand or 0-30 days” time band in
the above maturity analysis. As at 31 December 2013, the
aggregate carrying amounts of these bank loans amounted
to HK$22,217,000 (2012: HK$38,696,000). Taking into
account the Group's financial position, the directors do not
believe that it is probable that the banks will exercise their
discretionary rights to demand immediate repayment. The
directors believe that such bank loans will be repaid within one
to five years after the reporting date of 31 December 2013 in
accordance with the scheduled repayment dates set out in the
loan agreements. The following table summarises the maturity
analysis of bank loans with a repayment on demand clause
based on agreed scheduled repayments set out in the loan
agreements.

Weighted
average
effective
interestrate  0-30days  31-60 days
BRAI=
WETSY 0-30% 31-60%
% HK$'000 HK$'000
Y% Thr Thx
As at 31 December 2013 ®2013%12A318
Bank loans BITHER 221 1,368 1378
As at 31 December 2012 #2012512A31R
Bank loans RITER 221 1,346 1353

The amounts included above for variable interest rate
instruments for non-derivative financial liabilities is subject
to change if changes in variable interest rates differ to those
estimates of interest rates determined at the end of the
reporting period.
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37. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (CONTINUED) 37. @MIR(E)

37c. Fair value measurements of financial instruments 37c. £ TEZAFENE
This note provides information about how the Group
determines fair values of various financial assets and financial
liabilities.

AW ERHEERAREZRERE
ELeRBEATHEZEESR

(i) Fair value of the Group’s financial assets and 10
financial liabilities that are measured at fair value on
a recurring basis

RIBATH 1B 2 T (671 8
2AEELRAERSBAR
ZAFHE

Some of the Group’s financial assets and financial
liabilities are measured at fair value at the end of each
reporting period. The following table gives information
about how the fair values of these financial assets and
financial liabilities are determined (in particular, the
valuation technique(s) and inputs used).

AEEH P EREENERE
BEREREMRIR D FE
B - TRABENGAZES
REEFEMABEAFEZE
EAR(LERMAZEET
ERBABIE) o

Financial assets/ Fair value Valuation technique(s)
financial liabilities Fair value as at hierarchy and key input(s)
SREE/SRAR RUTBHZATLE DY HERNREERARE
31/12/2013 31/12/2012
1) Foreign currency forward — Nil Assets - Level 2 Discounted cash flow. Future cash
contracts classified z HK$6,941,000 BR flows are estimated based on
as derivative financial BE- forward exchange rates (from

instruments in the 6,941,000/ 7T observable forward exchange
consolidated statement of rates at the end of the reporting
financial position period) and contracted forward
) RRAUBRRRER S B rates, discounted at a rate that
RATESRIAZINE reflects the credit risk of various
BHEH counterparties.
ARBSN - RERIYNER %
(RBRERRTBRNEIINER,
B REATHRR AL R
RIREM - WEHRA—EE AR
MEHFEERBMLER 8
o
2) Interest rate swaps Assets - Liabilities - Level 2 Discounted cash flow. Future cash
classified as derivative HK$360,000 HK$7,466,000 -yl flows are estimated based on
financial instruments inthe & - BE- forward interest rates (from
consolidated statement of 360,000/ 7,466,000 70 observable yield curves at the
financial position end of the reporting period)
2) RERAMERHRRSSE  Liabilities - and contracted interest rates,
BITESRTAEZFIX HK$3,313,000 discounted at a rate that
1 8%- reflects the credit risk of various
3,313,000 7t counterparties.
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37c. Fair value measurements of financial instruments
(Continued)

0]

(i)

Fair value of the Group’s financial assets and
financial liabilities that are measured at fair value on
a recurring basis (Continued)

Financial assets/

financial liabilities Fair value as at
SHEE /SRAE RUATASZAYE
31/12/2013 31/12/2012
3) Structured foreign Assets - Liabilities -
currency forward contract HK$2,024,000 HK$2,273,000
classified as derivative BE- BE-
financial instruments in the 2,024,000 7T 2,273,000/ T

consolidated statement of
financial position

3) MRE BB ERE N
RITESBT A R
INEREEN

There were no transfers between 3 Levels in both years.

Fair value of financial assets and financial liabilities
that are not measured at fair value on a recurring
basis (but fair value disclosures are required)

The directors consider that the carrying amounts
of financial assets and financial liabilities (excluding
derivative instruments) recognised in the consolidated
financial statements approximate their fair values.

As at 31 December 2013 and 31 December 2012,
the fair value measurements of all derivative financial
instruments of the Group are categorised into Level
2. The fair values of the financial assets and financial
liabilities included in the Level 2 category have been
determined in accordance with generally accepted pricing
models based on a discounted cash flow analysis, with
the most significant inputs being the discount rate that
reflects the credit risk of counterparties.
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37c. EMI B2 AFEFEE)

Fair value
hierarchy
ATE

Level 2
E2

®

(i)

R F (BB FlEATE
ZAEEHEERTHE &
Z R FEE)

Valuation technique(s)
and key input(s)
HERMREZHALE

Discounted cash flow. Future cash
flows are estimated based on
forward exchange rates (from
observable forward exchange rates
at the end of the reporting period)
and contracted forward rates,
discounted at a rate that reflects the
credit risk of various counterparties.

ARBSN - RERIYNE R %

(RBRERRTBRNRIHINER,
BE) R EATHRR AL RS
RIREM - WHRA—EEAR
MEHFEERBRMOLES 8
o

RREFER - =@EHRA2HE
WS

W IFREAE i 2 FlE
SEZAEEEHEER T
REZAFE(ERERERF
=,

AEBEERE  REEWH
BRANERZEMEENRS R
BE(CIEETETR)NERE
BEREQFEMEE -

201312 A31H K20124
128318 AEBMATE
SRITEAVEFEHNSEAR
F2W - FIAE 2R ERMEE
RemaBoBRBEAREER
NZARBERAONETE - &
FEREECHASEBEARME
HFEERR AR -



LEE & MAN CHEMICAL COMPANY LIMITED ¥EX{t THRA A

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e R R M EE

(For the year ended 31 December 2013)

(BZE2013F12A31BILFE)

37. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (CONTINUED)

37d.Financial assets and financial liabilities subject to
offsetting, enforceable master netting arrangements

and similar agreements

The disclosures set out in the tables below include financial
assets and financial liabilities that are subject to an enforceable
master netting arrangement or similar agreement that covers
similar financial instruments, irrespective of whether they
are offset in the Group's consolidated statement of financial

position.

Financial assets subject to offsetting, enforceable master
netting arrangements and similar agreements

As at 31 December 2013

37. &MTITRE)

37d. S R - THTHEEERHER

BBz eRMEERESRARE

TRAHZBBRITS R AIAITE
EREZFIRERUSHTAZ
Bl ceREERSRASE

TimEBRNAKE 2 FE MBI
KA

HRIEH - AIBTTAE G LR
Bl 2 MEE

M2013F12831H

Gross amounts Net amounts
of recognised of financial Related amounts not
financial assets set off in the consolidated
liabilities presented  statement of financial position
Gross amounts  set off in the in the W ERGEBBRRRA
of recognised  consolidated  consolidated BEHzEReE
consolidated statement statement of Cash
financial of financial financial Financial collateral Net
assets position position instruments received amount
GEUBHRAR HGEEBRRE
ERRGE WA RIS 2 REFIHER 2
SREELE SREE BERHE SRIA REEAm B
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TET TET TAT TAT FET TET
Description fiatt
Bank balances i 2,257 - 2,257 (1,077) - 1,180
Derivatives IR 2,384 - 2,384 (360) - 2,024
4,641 - 4,641 (1,437) - 3,204
As at 31 December 2012 20124 12A31H
Gross amounts Net amounts
of recognised of financial Related amounts not
financial assets set off in the consolidated
liabilities presented statement of financial position
Gross amounts set off in the in the TERREHMBRRARA
of recognised consolidated consolidated gl
consolidated statement statement of Cash
financial of financial financial Financial collateral Net
assets position position instruments received amount
FARMBHAER FAMBRRER
ERRiEe  AAHEHZ  AZINER B ER
tREEER SREE BETE SRITA Beffm X
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
AL FEL T TAL TAL THET
Description b
Bank balances ichte 487 - 487 (480) - 7
Derivatives fETA 6,941 = 6,941 (3,341) = 3,600
7428 = 7428 (3,821) = 3,607
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37d.Financial assets and financial liabilities subject to
offsetting, enforceable master netting arrangements
and similar agreements (Continued)

Financial liabilities subject to offsetting, enforceable
master netting arrangements and similar agreements

As at 31 December 2013

Gross amounts
of recognised
financial
assets
Gross amounts set off in the
of recognised statement
financial of financial
liabilities position
SRUBHRR
BRAGE RTREEZ
SRAREE SRHEE
HK$'000 HK$'000
ThL ThT
Description i
Derivatives fIEIA (3313) -

As at 31 December 2012

Gross amounts

of recognised
financial
assets
Gross amounts set off in the
of recognised statement
financial of financial
liabilities position
FREBRAK
BEAGA MRS
SRARLE TREE
HK$'000 HK$'000
FET TET
Description b
Derivatives TTETE (9,739) -

The disclosures set out in the tables above include derivative
contracts through the banks. The related collaterals are
included in bank balances. If a default occurs, the banks are
able to exercise the right to offset against any favourable
derivative contracts and/or the collaterals placed.

113

37d.

Net amounts
of financial
liabilities
presented

in the
consolidated
statement of
financial
position
GREBRRR
REFIHNER
SEFE
HK$'000
T

(3313)

Net amounts
of financial
liabilities
presented

in the
consolidated
statement of
financial
position
GANBRAR
ELEa
BETE
HK$'000
FHET

(9,739)
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BREHE  TATREEEZHER
BBz MEERSRER
(%)

BRI - AIBTTHETBH LR
BllpiZEe MR E

M2013F12A31H

Related amounts not
set off in the consolidated
statement of financial position

PERGRIBRRARRA
E¥zABeE
Cash
Financial collateral Net
instruments teceived amount
2HE
SRIE ReEAR #E
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
R AL TEL
1431 - (1,876)

MR2012F12A31H

Related amounts not
set off in the consolidated
statement of financial position
TERREMBRRRA

ki =
Cash
Financial collateral Net
instruments received amount
BHE
£RIA Be#AT 58
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
THT THET FET
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LEE & MAN CHEMICAL COMPANY LIMITED ¥EX{t THRA A

Financial Summary
R

Year ended 31 December
BE+-A=1+—HLEE
2009 2010 2011 2012 2013
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FAIT FHIT T FAT FET

RESULTS E

Revenue EEE 1,403,428 2,138,808 2,155,710 1,520,512 1,329,131

Profit before taxation BRA A A A 249,725 537,786 726,964 418,951 374,957

Income tax expenses FRiSHisz (10,488) (71,969) (50,584) (57,014) (66,225)
Profit for the year FIR %A 239,237 465,817 676,380 361,937 308,732

At 31 December

B+=—A=+—H
2009 2010 2011 2012 2013
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FAT FHT T FAT FET

ASSETS AND LIABILITIES EERE&E

Total assets BERRE 1,539,059 2,170,164 2,833,682 3,492,177 4,174,634
Total liabilities aEesE (681,210)  (870,866) (1,175,061) (1,598,338) (2,044,026)
Net assets BEFR 857,849 1,299,298 1,658,621 1,893,839 2,130,608
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Statement of Financial Position of the Company
AN 20 i3 7 DY

A summarised information statement of financial position of the ARQAAIK2013%F 128318 &20124F12A31
Company as at 31 December 2013 and 31 December 2012 is as B Z#BEARREK MM
follows:

2013 2012
HK$°000 HK$'000
FHET FHET
(restated)
ERgl
ASSETS 'E
Investments in a subsidiary (note 1) Mt A BIIRE (Mfat1) 226,685 254,318
Amount due from a subsidiary (N EPNCEIDNES 13,962 117,806
Prepayments T IA 172 172
Bank balances RITHEER 248 230
241,067 372,526
LIABILITIES afE
Other payables Hfth AR 3,715 4,700
Bank borrowings SRITE 22,217 38,696
25,932 43,396
215,135 329,130
CAPITAL AND RESERVES BAKEE
Share capital EWN 82,500 82,500
Reserves (note 2) (M EE2) 132,635 246,630
215,135 329,130
notes 1: In preparing the Company’s financial statements, the directors have identified the — #fi% 1 : REEHI AR SHE - EEMEEHE 20124
following prior year adjustment in the financial statements for the year ended 31 12 A3 BNFEMBREF B U TAIFERE
December 2012:
“Its imputed interest income from the subsidiary amounting to HK$94,130,000 was [ P /8 2 5] 2 it E A S A& #7516 94,130,000
erroneously debited into “amount due from a subsidiary” instead of “investment in WEERRAEEA [ B A R R 2 M B AR
a subsidiary”. The Company has restated the “amount due from a subsidiary” and & | RRAIEEMBIRKREMAEII B A FIR
“investment in a subsidiary” in the financial statements retrospectively. The above RIRHBRARKE INEE - A EZRFEH
prior year adjustment has no effects on the statements of comprehensive income BEHHZE2012F12A31 B2 2 ARG RKR I E
for the year ended 31 December 2012." TE -
notes 2: Reserves Mt 2 - &
Share
Share Contributed Translation options Accumulated
premium surplus reserve reserve profits Total
RDBEE BHER EREE BREGE E-X 7] &5t
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000

TR TR THT THT THT THT

At 1 January 2012 R20124E1 A 1A 20,307  (102,808) - 129,174 314,617 361,290
Profit for the year FRmF) - - - - 16,330 16,330
Recognition of equity-settled RIARRANAEE AR

share-based payments AR 2 R - - - 28,256 - 28,256
Dividends RE = = = —  (165000)  (165,000)
Exchange differences arising RERmEE Y

from translation VEH =5 - - 5,754 - = 5,754
At 31 December 2012 ®2012412 8318 20307  (102,808) 5,754 157,430 165,947 246,630
Loss for the year FAEE - - - - (3,226) (3,226)
Recognition of equity-settled TERRUARR A 45 E LARR 17

share-based payments RERZ N - - - 6,000 - 6,000
Dividends B = - - - (123,750)  (123,750)
Exchange differences arising e mEE 2

from translation VEH =% - - 6,981 - - 6,981
At 31 December 2013 ®2013412 8318 20307  (102,808) 12,735 163,430 38,971 132,635

The contributed surplus of the Company represents the difference between the aggregate KRB 2 EHRBBTIANNGE2001F12 8 2 EEEHATK
net tangible assets of the subsidiaries acquired by the Company pursuant to a group B2 B AR 2 A F & E S E AR EA A 7 EZ KT
reorganisation in December 2001 and the nominal value of the Company's shares issued for TIRANEE Z58 -

the acquisition.

115



LEE & MAN CHEMICAL COMPANY LIMITED EI{t THERAE

Schedule of Property

MZEE R

INVESTMENT PROPERTY

B"EMR

Group’s Expected date of
Location Area Use Stage of completion ownership completion
b B [ AR 7T A P ER SEEERE BHTHA
RENTE SIRER  16,606M2 Undetermined  Not yet commenced 100%  Undetermined
STRIAEIAR RIETE construction RIEE
BIEEIAR NG
BBEEIAT
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LEE & MAN CHEMICAL COMPANY LIMITED
8th Floor, Liven House

61-63 King Yip Street

Kwun Tong, Kowloon, Hong Kong

Tel: (852) 23199888 Fax: (852) 2319 9333

B THERATE
BB BEERENCEHC1-635 4 A E8iE
FiE 0 (852) 23199888 {HE : (852) 23199333
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